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A B O U T
U S

First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) is a member of the
First Citizens Group, one of the leading financial services groups in
Trinidad and Tobago. FCIS commenced operations in Trinidad and
Tobago in 2000 and are a leading full-service investment
management firm in the Caribbean and are licensed broker-dealers
on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange, Barbados Stock
Exchange and the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange.

FCIS is committed to the development of the financial markets in the
communities in which they operate and continue to be the thought
leader in the Caribbean through analytical reports and client seminars
which are held in all territories in which they do business.

Client services provided:
Wealth Management
Portfolio and Investment Management
Debt and equity underwriting, brokerage and advisory
Local, regional and international bond and equity trading
Market commentary, investment research and analysis
Mutual Funds
Secured income investments



02   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

O U R
L O C A T I O N S

TRINIDAD OFFICES

Head Office - Port of Spain Centre
17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair
Port of Spain
Tel: (868) 622-3247
Fax: (868) 627-5496
Email: wealth@firstcitizenstt.com

San Fernando Centre
Level 8-01, Gulf City Mall
Gulf City Avenue, Gulf View, La Romaine
Tel: (868) 657-2662
Fax: (868) 653-4871
Email: southfcis@firstcitizenstt.com

REGIONAL OFFICES

Barbados
One Welches,
Welches
St. Thomas
Tel: (246) 417-6810
Fax: (246) 421-2140

St Vincent
2nd Floor, Lewis Pharmacy Building,
Corner of James and Middle Streets,
Kingstown
Tel: (784) 453-2662
Fax: (784) 453-3800

St Lucia
John Compton Highway
San Souci
Castries
Tel: (758) 450-2662
Fax: (758) 451-7984

mailto:wealth@firstcitizenstt.com
mailto:wealth@firstcitizenstt.com


Mr Anthony Isidore Smart graduated from the University of Toronto, Canada with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree (General), majoring in Economics. He is an Attorney-at-Law
who has been in private practice for 51 years, 30 of which he led the law firm of Gittens,
Smart and Company. He was an elected member of the House of Representatives of the
Parliament of Trinidad and Tobago from December 1986 to November 1991. 

At various times between January 1987 and February 1989, he was the Deputy Speaker of
the House of Representatives, Minister in the Office of the Attorney General, Minister in
the Office of the Prime Minister and Chief Whip of the House of Representatives. He was
Attorney General of Trinidad and Tobago from March 1989 to November 1991. He also
served as a member of the British Commonwealth Observer Team in 1992 for the first
multi-party general election held in Kenya in 22 years. 

Mr Smart was a tutor in Family Law at the Hugh Wooding Law School in the 1970s and
was personally responsible for drafting the Code of Ethics for Ministers and Members of
Parliament which was laid in the House of Representatives in 1988. 

Mr Smart was appointed as Chairman of the Board of First Citizens Bank Limited on 17
June 2014 and subsequently, as Chairman of First Citizens Investment Services Limited,
First Citizens Bank (Barbados) Limited, First Citizens Costa Rica SA, First Citizens
Holdings Limited, First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited
and First Citizens Group Financial Holdings Limited. He also served as Executive
Chairman of First Citizens Bank Limited from 4 December 2014 to 7 April 2015. 

Mr Smart served on the Board of the Child Welfare League of Trinidad and Tobago as a
young attorney. He received the Arbor Award from the University of Toronto on 9
November 2004 for outstanding voluntary service to the University. At its 40th
Anniversary Celebration in 2012, the Phase II Pan Groove Steel Orchestra gave Mr Smart
an award for his service to the steelband. 

Mr Smart was inducted into the Fatima College Hall of Achievement for Public Service in
2015 and received an award for Public Service from the St Margaret of Antioch Anglican
Church, Belmont at its 125th Anniversary in 2016
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Anthony Isidore Smart
Chairperson



Ms Karen Darbasie is an accomplished Senior Executive with over three (3) decades of
experience in the financial services and telecommunications industries with a forward
thinking leadership style underscored by excellence and vision. 

Prior to her appointment at First Citizens in April 2015 as Group Chief Executive Officer,
Ms Darbasie held several senior positions at a global financial institution based in
Trinidad and Tobago, including Managing Director of the Merchant Bank, Country
Treasurer and Markets Head. 

Her extensive academic background, coupled with her vast local and international
qualifications, which include a Bachelor of Science (BSc) degree in Electrical Engineering
with First Class Honours from The University of the West Indies, a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) with distinction from the University of Warwick and a Master of
Science (MSc) with distinction from the University of Essex is bolstered by an innate
technical business acumen. 

Ms Darbasie serves as a Director on several Subsidiary Boards within the First Citizens
Group, the Bankers Association of Trinidad and Tobago and United Way Trinidad and
Tobago. In 2020, Ms Darbasie was appointed by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago
to the Roadmap to Recovery Committee to assist in the development of the country’s
plans for recovery from the disruption caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

Her past directorships include the American Chamber of Commerce of Trinidad and
Tobago (AMCHAM), the Energy Chamber of Trinidad and Tobago and St Lucia Electricity
Services Limited (LUCILEC), as well as, Chairman of Trinidad Nitrogen Company Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Karen Darbasie
Director



Idrees Omardeen became a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) in 2004, five years after which, his expertise in the field granted him
Fellow Membership status within the Association. In 2021, Mr Omardeen received his
practicing certificate from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago
which allows him to practice as a Chartered Accountant. He holds a Master of Business
Administration in Finance and is also a certified Anti-Money Laundering Specialist with
ACAMS and, is an Accredited Director with the Chartered Governance Institute of
Canada. 

With a keen eye for management, Mr Omardeen operates the Omardeen School of
Accountancy Limited, a family-owned business. At the school, Mr Omardeen lectures all
levels of accounting—from entry level to professional level. He also works in his family’s
accounting practice and manages the property rentals as well as events and the family’s
auditorium. Mr Omardeen has recently started a new venture, or as he puts it—
adventure, in agriculture and agri-processing and is a registered farmer, making some of
the finest blends of coffee for export and local consumption. 

Mr Omardeen was appointed as a Director of First Citizens Bank Limited on 17 June 2016
and subsequently as a Director on the Boards of First Citizens Investment Services
Limited, First Citizens Depository Services Limited, First Citizens Brokerage and
Advisory Services Limited, First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services
Limited, First Citizens Trustee Services Limited and First Citizens Group Financial
Holdings Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Idress Omardeen
Director



Ryan Proudfoot holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree (with Honours) in Accounting from the
University of Kent at Canterbury, UK and a Master of Business Administration in
International Management from the University of Exeter, UK. 

Mr Proudfoot is the majority shareholder of the Total Office Group, a group that helps
Architects, Designers and Corporate Clients create great spaces throughout the English-
speaking Caribbean. From Jamaica in the north to Guyana in the south and another
fourteen countries in between, the Total Office Group serves a population of six and a
half million people. 

Prior to this, Mr Proudfoot had a highly successful career in banking, holding the
positions of General Manager, BNB Finance & Trust Corporation and General Manager,
BNB Treasury with Barbados National Bank Inc (renamed Republic Bank (Barbados)
Limited; and a subsidiary of Republic Bank Limited). Mr Proudfoot joined BNB after
serving as Business Head and Vice President, Citicorp Merchant Bank Limited (Barbados
Branch) where he was responsible for the re-establishment of Citibank in Barbados. 

Mr Proudfoot started his career at Citibank Trinidad as a Relationship Manager in
Corporate Banking where he served for five years before moving to Barbados. He was
appointed to the Board of First Citizens Bank Limited on 3 July 2014 and subsequently as
Chairperson of the Board of First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited and a
Director on the Boards of First Citizens Investment Services Limited, First Citizens Bank
(Barbados) Limited, First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited
and First Citizens Group Financial Holdings Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Ryan Proudfoot
Director



Troy Garcia holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from Stetson
University, Florida, USA. 

With over 27 years of experience and success in the fields of business and
entrepreneurship, he is the Chief Executive Officer of Parts World Limited and Managing
Director of High Performance Coatings and Honorary Consul General of Finland for
Trinidad and Tobago. 

Mr Garcia was appointed to the Board of First Citizens Bank Limited on 16 June 2016 and
subsequently to the Boards of First Citizens Investment Services Limited, First Citizens
Depository Services Limited, First Citizens Costa Rica SA and First Citizens Group
Financial Holdings Limited. 

He also sits as the Deputy Chairman on the Board of the National Marine Maintenance
Services Company Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Troy Garcia
Director

Jayselle McFarlane is a member of the Association of Certified Chartered Accountants
(ACCA), holds an MBA and is an Accredited Director with the Chartered Governance
Institute of Canada. She has experience in various sectors such as financial services,
construction, hospitality and manufacturing. Her career as a Consultant emanated from
over 24 years of diverse experience; with her functioning in leading roles at various
international/multinational companies. As a Chartered Accountant, she was able to hold
the offices of Finance Analyst, Financial Controller and Corporate Secretary in these
international/multinational companies. 

Ms McFarlane was appointed to the Board of First Citizens Bank Limited as a Director on
16 June 2016 and subsequently as Deputy Chairperson on the Board of First Citizens
Depository Services Limited and as a Director on the Boards of First Citizens Holdings
Limited, First Citizens Investment Services Limited and First Citizens Group Financial
Holdings Limited. 

With effect from 12 April 2021, she became the Managing Director of the Trinidad and
Tobago Housing Development Corporation.

Jayselle Mc Farlane
Director



Mr David G Inglefield’s business career has spanned 50 years in Trinidad and Tobago,
Suriname, Guyana, Barbados and the USA. 

Beginning in 1969 at Trinity Advertising Limited, he became Managing Director in 1978
and in 1981 acquired and merged the business with Corbin Compton Caribbean. He was
appointed CEO in 1982 where he remained until he resigned in 1993 and founded his own
agency. 

Recognised as one of the leaders in the Caribbean on Strategic Business and Brand
Development, in October 2003, he brought his considerable knowledge and experience
to the ANSA McAL Group as a Parent Board Director and member of the Group’s
Executive Committee. As Group Marketing Director, he played a decisive role in the
acquisition of the Bryden’s Business Group in Barbados and its successful integration
into the Group’s distribution business in Barbados. 

During the period 2005 to 2015, Mr Inglefield served in various capacities within the
ANSA McAL Group including the Group’s Distribution Sector Head. In 2007, he was
appointed President/CEO of ANSA McAL (Barbados) Limited. Returning to T&T in 2011,
he took up the position of Sector Head Executive Chairman of Guardian Media Limited as
well as Chairman of the four operating companies in the ANSA McAL Group’s Services
and Retail Sectors. 

Mr Inglefield retired from the ANSA McAL Group in June 2015 and is now an active
business consultant to major businesses in the state and private sector, including the
‘heavy’ manufacturing and petrochemical sectors. 

He was appointed a Director of the Board of Trinidad Cement Limited (Cemex) and a
member of the Board Audit and Governance Committees in 2016. Mr Inglefield was
appointed Chairman of the TCL Group in October 2019. 

He also serves as a Director on the Boards of First Citizens Bank Limited, First Citizens
Trustee Services Limited, First Citizens Investment Services Limited, First Citizens Bank
(Barbados) Limited and First Citizens Group Financial Holdings Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
David Inglefield
Director



Dr Sterling Frost ORTT, has four decades of Global Corporate career experience in North
America, Latin America and the Caribbean region. He is an International Management
Executive who has held senior positions in the financial services sector in a range of
areas including: Retail and Commercial Banking, Operations Management, Public Affairs
and Human Resource Management. 

Before joining the First Citizens Group in 2016 as Deputy Chief Executive Officer –
Operations and Administration, he served as Director of Human Resources at the Miami-
based Citibank Latin America Head Office. His past directorships include: financial
institutions across Trinidad and Tobago, Panama, Nicaragua and Honduras. 

Dr Frost has a Master’s Degree and a Doctorate in Business Administration from The
University of the West Indies (The UWI). He is a Fellow of the Chartered Governance
Institute of Canada and retains the designation of Chartered Secretary as well as
Accredited Director. Additionally, he is also a University of California, Berkeley certified
Executive Coach, as well as a Prosci Certified Change Practitioner. 

He currently serves on the Boards of several subsidiaries within and external to the First
Citizens Group – Chairs the UWI Faculty of Social Sciences Advisory Board, the UWI
Institute for Gender and Development Studies External Advisory Board, the UWI
Development Endowment Fund Board, the Board of the Foundation for the
Enhancement and Enrichment of Life (FEEL) and the First Citizens Foundation. He also
serves as Deputy Chair of the Statutory Authorities Service Commission,
Assessor/Advisor to the Industrial Court of Trinidad and Tobago, Director of the St Lucia
Electricity Services Limited and Director of Angostura Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Sterling K Frost ORTT
Director



Colin Wharfe is a retired professional accountant; a Fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and a Certified Information Systems Auditor. He is the holder of a Bachelor
of Laws degree from the University of London. 

The majority of his career was spent at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), where he was
admitted to the firm’s Partnership in 1997. He held various senior, client facing and
functional roles at PwC, including Lead Assurance Partner, Lead Technical (Audit and
Financial Reporting) Parner, Lead Human Capital Partner. He was also responsible for the
firm’s Energy Sector practice during the period of the sector’s aggressive growth. His
experience as Lead Engagement Partner and/or Relationship Partner included a wide
variety of large audit and advisory engagements, including listed entities, financial
services, manufacturing, as well as major multinational and public sector clients. His
areas of expertise include Accounting and Financial Reporting, Governance and
Compliance. 

He was the firm’s Territory Senior Partner, and served as a member of the Executive
Leadership Team for the eight member firms in the Caribbean region. He retired in June
2016, after serving PwC for more than 30 years. 

He is a Board Member and Audit Committee Chair of United Way Trinidad and Tobago.
He is also a member of the Board, Group Audit and Group Digital and IT Committees of
the VM Group Limited in Jamaica. 

Mr Wharfe was appointed to the Board of First Citizens Group Financial Holdings
Limited as a Director on 28 September 2022 and subsequently as a Director of the Boards
of First Citizens, First Citizens Investment Services Limited and First Citizens Trustee
Services Limited.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
Colin Wharfe
Director
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O U R  E X E C U T I V E
T E A M

Mr. Lewis has over 40 years of banking
experience in Retail and Commercial
Banking, with 20 years at the senior
management level. He previously held the
position of General Manager, Retail and
Commercial Banking. 

Mr. Lewis holds a Master’s in Business
Administration (MBA) from the University
of Lincoln, London and a Diploma in
Business Management from the University
of the West Indies. He has served on
several boards within the First Citizens
Group and currently serves as a member
of the First Citizens Financial Services St.
Lucia Board.

Robin Lewis
General Manager



Nicholas took up the role of Assistant General Manager – FCIS in June 2022.
He previously held the position of Senior Manager – Trading at Treasury /
International Trade Centre. Nicholas has over 22 years’ experience, 15 of
which are at a managerial level at international and regional financial
institutions. His experience includes Treasury, Treasury Risk Management,
Asset Liability Management, Corporate and Investment Banking, Portfolio
Management and Retail Banking.

Nicholas is a holder of a Bachelor in Business Administration from the
University of New Brunswick. He also holds an International Masters in
Business Administration with a specialization in Finance from the Arthur Lok
Jack Graduate School of Business.
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O U R  E X E C U T I V E
T E A M

Nicholas Chen
Assistant General Manager
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O U R  E X E C U T I V E  T E A M

Abbey has over 15 years experience in
the financial services sector, both
locally and internationally. Her current
position is Head – First Citizens
Portfolio and Investment Management
Services. 
She is the holder of a Bachelor of
Commerce Degree (with Honours) in
Economics from the University of
Guelph, Canada, ACCA, and an MBA
(with Distinction) from Edinburgh
Business School. In addition, she is a
CFA Charterholder.

Xoceketzal Abbey Mohammed, CFA
Head - Portfolio & Investment
Management ServicesDaniel has nearly two decades of

experience in Financial Services Sector,
with extensive knowledge and expertise
in the areas of Wealth Management,
Investment Advisory Services, Securities
Brokerage and Investment Sales. Over
the span of his career, Daniel has found
great fulfilment by facilitating clients in
their pursuit of their Investment goals
and objectives. He has held several
Management positions and currently
leads the Wealth Management and
Business Development teams of the
company.
Daniel graduated from the University of
Lincoln, United Kingdom with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree in International
Business Administration (with honours).
He also holds a Masters in Business
Administration (with distinction) from
Edinburgh Business School, United
Kingdom.

Daniel Youssef
Head - Wealth Management
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O U R  E X E C U T I V E  T E A M

Greg has over 15 years’
of investment experience
and is responsible for
managing the FCIS
Proprietary Portfolio. He
holds a BSc in
Management Studies
with a Finance Minor
(First Class Honours)
from the University of
the West Indies and is
also a CFA
Charterholder.

Greg Ferreira
Head - Proprietary
Portfolio
Management

Norlann Gabriel
Head of Regional
Operations
Norlann joined FCIS in
2010 and has functioned
in a leadership capacity in
every regional unit of
FCIS where her
responsibilities included
business development and
strategic execution in the
Eastern Caribbean and
Barbados Capital Markets.
She holds a BBA in
Finance with a
concentration in
Economics from
Midwestern State
University and an MBA in
Finance from the
University of NTexas. 

Leslie St. Louis
Head - Brokerage 
and Advisory
Services Ltd

Leslie is a qualified
Chartered Accountant             
since 1996 and a
registered broker since
2007. On January 1, 2010,
he  re-joined  the 
Brokerage operations of
First Citizens Brokerage
and Advisory Services
Limited as the Manager –
Brokerage Services. He
has significant experience
in the IPO arena in T&T
acting as Lead Broker for
ten of the last twelve
issues on the TTSE with a
combined raise of over
TT$12.7 Billion.



Maritza is a Chartered Financial
Analyst (CFA) Charter holder with
a Bachelor’s degree in
Management Studies and a Minor
in Finance from the University of
the West Indies, St Augustine. She
has been with the First Citizens
Group since August 2015 and has
twenty years of experience in
asset management and currently
holds the position of Manager –
Investment Research. 
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O U R  E X E C U T I V E  T E A M

Maritza Ferreira Ramdeen
Manager - Investment Research

Beverly Durity–Baptiste
Head - Finance

Beverly has over twenty years
of diverse, progressive
experience working within the
financial, telecommunication,
project management and
construction sector. She has
been with the First citizens
Group for the past eight years
and is a Fellow Member of the
Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (FCCA)
and holds an MBA from the
University of Manchester.



The International Economy 
Fiscal year 2023 was marked by dynamism and uncertainty. As consumer prices
remained elevated and above target levels, several major central banks including the Bank
of England, the European Central Bank, Central Banks of Mexico, Colombia and Peru,
maintained their tighter monetary policy stance in late 2022 and into the first half of 2023.
As a result, global growth was stymied, with economic activity slowing in many countries. 

China’s decision to abandon its zero COVID policy in January 2023 after nearly three
years closed off to the world and slowly reopened their economy was welcome by the
global economy. China's reopening was expected to boost the world’s economic recovery
as the country is the second largest importer of goods worldwide and is a significant
trading partner with most countries in the world, notably to emerging markets including
Asia and Latin America. 

The growth momentum however soon lost steam as China’s economy slowed in Q3 2023
owing to the turmoil in the real estate sector as major property developers in China
struggled to meet their debt obligations, and resulted in missed payments and filings of
bankruptcy. Resultantly, investment in real estate and housing prices has fallen steadily,
undermining China’s economic performance. 

In its October 2023 publication, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected global
growth to slow sharply from 3.5% in 2022 to 3.0% in 2023, propelled by the advanced
economies, notably Europe. Growth among the advanced economies is projected to slow
sharply from 2.6% in 2022 to 1.5% in 2023, driven by weaker than expected growth in
Europe. Germany, the Euro Area largest economy, is anticipated to experience a
contraction in GDP of 0.50% in 2023, down from an expansion of 1.8% in 2022 owing to
weaker demand from their trading partners. France, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom
economies are projected to decelerate sharply in 2023, increasing by 1%, 0.70%, 2.5% and
0.5% in 2023 respectively. 

While economic activity in China was projected to pick up in 2023, with an estimated GDP
of 4.0 up from 3.2% in 2022, the growth forecast was revised downwards by 0.90% from
the July 2023 World Economic Outlook update. The reduction in growth was primarily
driven by the property market crisis which is expected to negatively impact investment
activity.
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C H A I R P E R S O N ’ S
S T A T E M E N T

The resilience exhibited by the US economy in 2022
continued into 2023, with a GDP increase by 2.1%,
unchanged from 2022. Growth is expected to be supported
by a tight labour market and stronger business investment. 



Regional Economies
Barbados’ economy posted better than expected growth, as it expanded by 4.4% in the
first nine months of 2023, which is the largest nine-month expansion since 2006.This
boost in activity was bolstered by a sharp uptick in the tourism sector that benefited from
increased airlift, a full return to Crop-over festivities and the Caribbean Premier League
cricket matches. By the end of September 2023, total long-stay arrivals increased by 18.7%
year on year while in-transit arrivals soared by 150%. The continued improvement in
Barbados’ economy allowed the government to surpass its primary surplus target by
BD$56.9mn. According to the Central Bank of Barbados, the economy is projected to
moderate and grow by 4.5% in 2023, down from 13.8% in 2022. 

The Jamaican economy slowed over the nine month period ending September 2023
registering growth within the range of 3.5% to 4.5% in the first quarter and 1.0% to 3.0% in
the second and third quarter. The deceleration was led by contractions in the
Construction sector due to a reduction in construction activities and Agriculture, Forestry
& Fisheries due to drought conditions. According to the Bank of Jamaica, the economy is
projected to grow within a range of 1.0% to 3.0% for fiscal 2023/2024, led by Mining &
Quarrying. The sector’s expansion is predicated on the normalization of operations at all
plants. 
 

The growth momentum of 2022 continued into the first half of 2023 as the Guyanese
economy achieved real oil GDP growth of 59.5%, fueled by oil production and non-oil
GDP growth of 12.3%. Real oil GDP was bolstered by higher levels of production in both
oil and gas, aided by the Prosperity Floating, production, storage and offloading (FPSO)
vessel. Crude oil production soared by 98.3% in the first half of 2023, while the average
daily production rose 96.1%. The non-oil sector was supported by construction,
agriculture and service sectors. The Bank of Guyana projects the economy to maintain its
growth trajectory and grow by 28.2% in 2023. 

Trinidad and Tobago 
Based on available data from the Central Statistical Office (CSO), real GDP increased by
3.0% year on year in the first quarter of 2023, driven by strong growth in the non-energy
sector. Activity in transportation and storage, along with air travel, wholesale and retail
trade and the construction sector picked up over the first quarter of 2023. Growth in the
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C H A I R P E R S O N ’ S
S T A T E M E N T

non-energy sector was tempered by contractions
in the financial services sector, manufacturing
sector and agriculture sector. 

(continued)



The energy sector contributed marginally to GDP as the industry was challenged on many
fronts. The upstream industries were hampered by reduced crude oil output as producers
continue to be challenged by mature acreage. The refining sector also experienced a
similar fate as output fell due to notable declines in propane, butane, natural gasoline and
the petrochemical sector was adversely affected by routine maintenance works.
Notwithstanding the widespread reduction in output levels, natural gas output registered
marginal growth, supported by several new projects including Shell’s Barracuda project,
Matapal from bpTT and Sandolie from DeNovo. 

The Ministry of Finance anticipates an uptick in economic activity, with an estimated
growth rate of 2.7% in 2022. Growth will be driven by the non-energy sector as the
Ministry projects the industry to increase by 3% in 2023. The challenges in the energy
sector is forecasted to continue for the rest of the year. As a result, the energy sector was
anticipated to contract by 0.60% in 2023. 

Inflationary pressures cooled in 2023, as headline inflation decelerated to 4.1% in August
2023, down from 5.8% at the beginning of the year owing to slower price increases in food
prices and core inflation. The Food price index slowed to 5.61% in August 2023, down
sharply from a high of 17.3% in January 2023. Core prices (which excludes food items) also
trended downwards as it fell to 3.7% in August 2023 from 6.1% at the beginning of the year. 

Overall financial system credit strengthened over the period, increased by 7.8% in June
2023, up from 6.4% in March 2023, propelled by expansions in real estate mortgage
lending, consumer credit and business loans. The rebound in credit augured well for real
sector activity, as such the Central Bank of Trinidad & Tobago (CBTT) maintained the repo
rate at 3.50% throughout the year. Resultantly, interest rates remained steady throughout
the year, with the average prime lending rate being maintained at 7.57% during the period
October 2022 to October 2023. 
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C H A I R P E R S O N ’ S
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8 December, 2023

(continued)



This annual report covers the period 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023, in keeping
with the financial year of the First Citizens Group.

Throughout the financial year ending in September 2023, global financial markets
grappled with challenges such as sluggish economic growth, financial risks contagion,
high inflation, and elevated interest rates. This created a complex and uncertain
environment, posing potential risks to the global economy. In the first half of 2023, the
collapse of two regional banks in the US and the subsequent failure of another bank led
to persistent market volatility. The deadlock among US lawmakers on adjusting the debt
limit further fuelled uncertainty, raising concerns about a potential US default.
However, investor sentiment improved as inflation pressures eased, and the US Federal
Reserve paused rate hikes in May 2023, resulting in a notable rally in stocks, with the
S&P 500 recording a 15.91% return in the first half of 2023.

Despite a positive start in the first half of 2023, the momentum did not continue into the
third quarter. Investors initially hoped for a more accommodative monetary policy
from the Federal Reserve (Fed), anticipating an end to rate hikes. However, during the
September 2023 meeting, the Fed signalled an upcoming rate hike and revised its 2024
federal funds rate projection, indicating a belief in the need for a prolonged and
restrictive policy to tackle inflationary pressures. As a result, by the end of September
2023, some gains in the S&P 500 were eroded, and the index recorded a return of
11.68%.

In Europe, the economic outlook was less optimistic due to persistent inflation, leading
to aggressive interest rate hikes by the Bank of England and the European Central Bank
(ECB). The Eurozone faced a mild recession, prompting the ECB to revise down
economic growth forecasts for 2023 and 2024, particularly attributing the decline to
Germany's struggles with recessionary pressures and weak export performance,
exacerbated by energy price shocks from the Ukraine war. Emerging markets,
influenced by China's slow recovery and real estate crisis, experienced a downturn,
with the MSCI Emerging Markets index recording a loss of 0.38% by September 30,
2023. 

In the US, the Treasury yield curve maintained its inversion but showed some easing
between July and September 2023. Notably, the 10-year yield rose by 96 basis points in
the third quarter, while the 2-year and 5-year yields saw more moderate increases. By
October 2023, the US 2-year yield stood at 5.04%, the 5-year yield at 4.60%, and the 10-
year yield closed at 4.57%. 
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In 2023, Trinidad & Tobago's stock market continued its downward trend from the
previous year, with the Composite Index leading the decline with a loss of 14.53%,
followed by the TT Composite Index (9.20%) and All T&T Index (7.68%). During the
initial ten months of 2023, the GOTT TTD curve experienced a steepening trend across
various tenors. In the short to medium term, the 3-month and 2-year rates increased by
53 basis points and 81 basis points, reaching 1.03% and 2.56%, respectively. On the longer
end of the curve, the 10-year yield remained stable at 5.18%, while the 15-year rates
decreased by 2 basis points to 6.00%.

In the face of ongoing uncertainty and market volatility, First Citizens Investment
Services (FCIS) achieved considerable progress during the fiscal year. In-person client
engagement activities resumed following a hiatus prompted by the COVID-19
pandemic. The Wealth Management unit at FCIS effectively organized numerous client
events and actively participated in webinars hosted by the Trinidad & Tobago Stock
Exchange (TTSE), with attendees exceeding 600. Furthermore, we are pleased to
announce that plans are in motion, with approval granted, to relocate our Wealth
Management south office to a new and improved location.

We expanded our regional presence through additional capital raises throughout the
Caribbean, with the FCIS's Regional Operations being lead broker to several deals in
excess of XCD1.3 billion.A significant milestone was achieved when the regional team
was made lead broker for the largest mutual fund company in the Caribbean. 

Fiscal year 2023 marked a significant period for our brokerage division, First Citizens
Brokerage & Advisory Services (FCBAS). FCBAS played a leading role as a broker in the
most substantial transaction in the history of the Mutual Fund market on the Trinidad
and Tobago Stock Exchange (TTSE) – the termination of the Clico Investment Fund
(CIF). This transaction totalled TT6.187 billion, benefiting over 6,400 investors.
Additionally, FCBAS received recognition at the TTSE's 40th Anniversary conference
for its contribution to the development of the local capital market, particularly in the
realm of Initial and Additional Public Offerings. 

Our mutual fund subsidiary, First Citizens Portfolio Investment Management Services
(FCPIMS), reached a notable milestone as its funds under management surpassed TT$17
billion. Additionally, FCPIMS successfully acquired a new client for our managed
services and products. 
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Despite the challenges faced in fiscal 2013, FCIS showcased resilience, strategic insight,
and commitment to all stakeholders. Our performance, characterized by noteworthy
successes and continuous improvement, underscores the dedication of our team and the
strength of our leadership. As we look to the future, FCIS is ready to seize new
opportunities, tackle emerging challenges and generate lasting value. We appreciate your
trust in our journey, and I eagerly anticipate the exciting chapters that await us.

Review of Financial Performance 

Net Interest Income
Net Interest Income totalled TTD0.1511 billion for the financial period ended September
30 2023, compared to TTD0.1545 billion for the prior year which reflected a 2% decrease.
This reduction was as a result of the strategic rebalancing of the investment portfolio due
to prevailing market conditions. These actions were all geared towards the efficient
management of credit risk and the mitigation of mark-to-market losses; as such lower
returns were achieved evidenced by a 6% reduction in Interest income YOY. Conversely
there was an overall reduction in funding costs which positively impacted Net Interest
Income for the period. 

Fees & Commission Income
Fees and commission increased by TTD0.0057 billion. The year on year increase was
primarily as a result of fees earned for brokerage and advisory services on an equity put
through transaction, which was offset by a decrease of TTD0.0099 billion on Investment
management fees.

Trading Losses
Trading losses were experienced in the period due to a strategic sell down of the
portfolio, which was necessary to mitigate against credit risk and mark to market losses
due to volatile market conditions. These losses amounted to TTD0.0184 billion for the
financial period ended September 30 2023.

Other Income
Other income decreased from TTD0.169 billion in 2022 to TTD0.00008 billion in 2023;
this was largely due to the non-receipt of dividend income from the Barita Investment
during the period. 

Administrative and Operating Expenses
Total overhead expenses increased by TTD0.0027 billion in 2023. This was mainly due to
increased staff costs during the period and an increase in the amortization charge
coming out of implementation of compliance software. 
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Impairment Gain/Loss on financial assets
Net impairment on financial assets moved from a charge in 2022 of TTD0.0031 billion to
a write-back of TTD0.016 billion in 2023. The significant positive change in 2023 was due
to an improvement in the Probability of Default (PD’s) for the OECS region. In addition,
to the sell down on the portfolio and maturities during the financial period. 

Investment Securities
Total investment securities were TTD5.8 billion at the financial period ended 30
September 2023, compared to the prior year of TTD5.9 billion which shows a decline of
TTD0.114 billion. This was mainly attributable to net movements on; maturities, disposals
and additions of TTD0.088 billion, followed by a negative fair value movement of
TTD0.0759 billion. Followed by a net IFRS 9 provision write back of TTD0.0187 billion. 

Borrowings
Borrowings decreased by TTD35K from 2022 to 2023. This movement was due to
accrued interest on the Medium Term notes.

Securities Under Repurchase Agreements (Repos)
The repo balances reduced by TTD0.080 billion net of maturities, interest and additions
from TTD3.28 billion as at September 2022 to TTD3.2 billion at the financial period ended
30 September 2023. 

Loan from Parent Company
The loan from Parent Company reflected a net increase year on year of TTD0.015 billion.
At the financial period ended September 30, 2023 the drawn down amount on the
approved line of credit was US$0.003 billion. The Group does have access to an
unsecured short-term US facility approved for USD0.040 billion and a line of approved
credit for USD0.025 billion respectively with its Parent.

Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholders’ equity which comprises of share capital, retained earnings and other
reserves, stood at TTD1.41 billion at the financial period ended 30 September 2023 which
represented a decrease of TTD0.030 billion from the prior period. This decrease reflected
a TTD0.0588 billion reduction in the other reserve movements, offset by an increase in
retained earnings of TTD0.029 which represented the profit after tax for the period
TTD0.1454 billion net of a dividend payment of TTD0.1164 billion.
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Management is responsible for the following:

Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying consolidated financial statements of
First Citizens Investment Services Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2023, and
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information;

Ensuring that the Group keeps proper accounting records;

Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures
security of the Group’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of
Group operational efficiencies;

Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting
period;

Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including
the Companies Act; and

Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited consolidated financial statements, management utilised the
International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and
Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented alternative
accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the
circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Group will not
remain a going concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the
date the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue, if
later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.
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To the shareholder of
First Citizens Investments Services Limited

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of First Citizens Investment Services Limited (the
Company) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) as at 30 September 2023, and their
consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2023;
the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Annual Report and the Prospectus for the offer of Repurchase Agreements (but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report and the Prospectus for the offer of Repurchase
Agreements, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF F INANCIAL  POSIT ION

The notes on pages 33 to 102 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On 20 November 2023 the Board of Directors of First Citizens Investment Services Limited authorised
these consolidated financial statements for issue.

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
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The notes on pages 33 to 102 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

The notes on pages 33 to 102 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The notes on pages 33 to 102 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(continued)

The notes on pages 33 to 102 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1      General information

2     Summary of significant accounting policies

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

a.  Basis of preparation

First Citizens Investment Services Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”) is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. Effective 1 September 2018, the
Group acquired 100% ownership of First Citizens Portfolio Investment and Management Services
Limited (FCPIMS). The Group operates in Trinidad and Tobago as well as in St. Lucia, St. Vincent and
Barbados through branches. Its principal business includes dealing in securities and such other
business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the Securities Act 2012 of the Republic of
Trinidad and Tobago.

First Citizens Group Financial Holdings Limited (FCGFH) is a subsidiary of First Citizens Holdings
Limited (Holdings), a company owned by the Government of Trinidad & Tobago (GORTT). First
Citizens Holding Limited is the majority shareholder of FCGFH, with shareholding interest of 60.1%.
On 18th October 2021 FCGFH became the parent company of First Citizens Bank Limited (the bank),
and replaced the bank as the listed entity whose shares are publicly traded on the Trinidad & Tobago
Stock Exchange. Effective 2 February 2009, First Citizens Bank Limited (the Bank) assumed control
of the Group.

The Group’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago.

The Group’s subsidiaries, all wholly-owned, are:
First Citizens Portfolio Investment and Management Services Limited;
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited; 
First Citizens Investment Services (Barbados) Limited;
Caribbean Money Market Brokers (Trincity) Limited; and
FCIS Nominees Limited

These notes provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other
notes. 

The financial statements are for the Group consisting of FCIS and its subsidiary

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. These consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The consolidated financial
statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
freehold premises, fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets and financial
assets classified at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

a.  Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective and have been 
    adopted by the Group in the accounting period

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before intended
use (Effective 1 January 2022). The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the
proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit or
loss.
Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts-Cost of fulfilling a contract (Effective 1
January 2022). The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises
the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can
either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour,
materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an
example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
Amendment to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Effective 1 January
2022). The amendments update an outdated reference to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS 3 without significantly changing the requirements in the standard.
Annual improvement to IFRS 9 (Effective 1 January 2022)- The amendment clarifies
which fees an entity includes when it applies the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial liability. An entity includes
only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.
Annual improvement to IFRS 16 (effective 1 January 2022)- The amendment to
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 removes from the example of the
illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives that might
arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

      The adoption of these amendments does not give rise to any material impact to the 
      consolidated financial statements.

Amendments IAS1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Effective 1 January 2023). The amendments require that an entity discloses its material
accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies. Further amendments
explain how an entity can identify a material accounting policy. Examples of when an
accounting policy is likely to be material are added. To support the amendment, the
Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the
application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement
2.

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
     effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
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(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
     effective and have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a.  Basis of preparation (continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates (Effective 1 January 2023).
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a
definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty.
The amendments clarify that a change in accounting estimate that results from new
information or new developments is not the correction of an error.

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction (Effective 1 January 2023). The amendments clarify that the initial
recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Effective
1 January 2024). The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of financial
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified
as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current liabilities with covenants (Effective 1 January
2024). These amendments clarify how conditions with which an entity must comply
within twelve months after the reporting period affect the classification of a liability.
The amendments also aim to improve information an entity provides related to
liabilities subject to these conditions. 

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Leases on sales and Leaseback (Effective 1 January 2024). The
amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 to
explain how an entity accounts for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction.
Sale and leaseback transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be impacted.

IFRS S1 - General requirements for disclosure of sustainability-related financial
information (Effective 1 January 2024). This standard includes the core framework for
the disclosure of material information about sustainability-related risks and
opportunities across an entity’s value chain.

IFRS S2 - Climate-related disclosures information (Effective 1 January 2024). This is the
first thematic standard issued that sets out requirements for entities to disclose
information about climate-related risks and opportunities.

      The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not yet 
      effective on the consolidated financial statements. We do not anticipate any material impact.

https://viewpoint.pwc.com/dt/gx/en/iasb/standards/standards__1_INT/standards__1_INT/amendment-to-ias-1.html
https://viewpoint.pwc.com/dt/gx/en/iasb/standards/standards__1_INT/standards__1_INT/Amendments-to-IFRS-16-Lease-liability.html
https://viewpoint.pwc.com/dt/gx/en/issb/issb/issb/ifrs-s1.html
https://viewpoint.pwc.com/dt/gx/en/issb/issb/issb/ifrs-s2.html
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b.  Consolidation

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)   Principles of consolidation

(ii)  Investment in subsidiaries

(iii) Business combinations and goodwill

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Group and its wholly
owned subsidiaries as outlined in Note 1. The financial statements of the consolidated
subsidiaries used to prepare the consolidated financial statements were prepared as of
the parent company’s reporting date. The consolidation principles are unchanged.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. The
accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Subsidiaries are all entities, (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration in relation to financial instruments to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.



37   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

(iii) Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

(ii) Transactions and balances

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b.  Consolidation (continued)

c.  Foreign currency translation

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated statement of income.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the functional currency). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars,
which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

The exchange rate between the TT dollar and the US dollar at 30 September 2023 was
TT$6.6926 = US$1.00 (2022: TT$6.6926 = US$1.00), the TT dollar and the XCD dollar was
TT$2.5190 = XC$1.00 (2022: TT$2.5190 = XC$1.00), the TT dollar and the Barbados dollar
was TT$3.4102 = BB$1.00 (2022: TT$3.4102 = BB$1.00) and the TT dollar and the Jamaican
dollar was TT$0.0431 = JM$1.00 (2022: TT$0.0439 = JM$1.00).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences
on non-monetary items such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are included in other comprehensive income.
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c.  Foreign currency translation (continued)

d. Derivative financial instruments

e. Financial assets and financial liabilities

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Group companies

(i)  Financial assets

 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated
at Fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL) are measured at amortised cost. The
carrying amount of these assets are adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance
recognised and measured as described in note 3.a.iii  Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in the income
statement and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of
income.

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any
loss allowance.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

The Group classifies its financial assets based on the following business models: 

Hold to collect 
Hold to collect and sell
Hold for trading

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its financial instruments into one of the
following three measurement categories:

 Amortised cost
 

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at 
     the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
(b) income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average cover 
     exchange rates for the financial year, and
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments including swaps are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their
fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models
and options pricing models as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when their
fair value is positive and as liabilities when negative.
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e.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)  Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
assets, where the assets cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are
recognised in profit or loss, except for foreign exchange on non-monetary assets which
are measured in accordance to c.ii above. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit
and loss and recognised in “Gain on financial assets”. 

The Group’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments
are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is
used, fair value and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. The interest income
from these financial assets is included in “interest Income’ using the effective interest
rate method. 

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised and
presented in the consolidated statement of income within “Loss realised on financial
assets”. All equity gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of
income except for those designated at initial recognition to FVOCI or for those equities
which are held for the strategic business operations.

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and
that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity
instruments include ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the Group’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

(Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (‘POCI’) financial assets – assets that are
credit-impaired (see definition on note 3 a vi) at initial recognition – the Group
calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated based on the
amortised cost of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and
incorporates the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows. When
the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the
respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate
discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in
profit or loss.



e.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Hold to collect Hold to collect and sell Hold for trading

Bonds Issued by or guaranteed by
Government of Trinidad & Tobago
(GORTT) more than 3 years at
recognition

Bonds Issued by or guaranteed
by Government of Trinidad &
Tobago less than 3 years at
recognition   

Actively Traded
(Capital Gains)
Portfolio 

Non-Eurobonds maturing in greater
than 3 years at recognition

Eurobonds  Equities  

Securities sold under repurchase
agreements to clients and brokers  

Non-Eurobonds maturing in
less than 3 years at recognition 

Long Term Borrowings from brokers
in the form of Total Return Swaps 

Equities initially designated to
OCI

 Medium Term Notes
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30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

Financial assets are classified on recognition based on the business model for
managing the contractual cash flows.

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of
factors such as:

The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in
practice. Specifically, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is it to collect both the contractual cash
flows and cash flows arising from the sale of the assets. 
Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.
Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and
reported to key management personnel.
Management’s identification of and response to various risks, which includes but
not limited to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.
Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and
forecasted liquidity requirements.

Arising out of the assessment, the portfolios were deemed to have the business
models identified as follows:

(i)  Financial assets (continued)

(a) Group’s business model



 Hold to collect
 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the Group
assesses whether cash flows represent solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI).
In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Hold to collect and sell

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect and sell, it incorporates the above
assessment of SPPI. In addition, the Group manages liquidity and credit risk using both
expected and contractual cash flows, through its fair value OCI portfolio and through
the disposal of assets.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the
first reporting period following the change. There was no impact on the fair value
reserve as the bond price remained unchanged.

Hold for trading

Hold for trading refers to equity instruments whose fair value movements are
recognised through the consolidated statement of income.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The Group
recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of
ECL reflects:

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes;
The time value of money; and
Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is
measured.
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30 September 2023
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Impairment 

(i)  Financial assets (continued)

(a) Group’s business model (continued)



The issuer of financial assets sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the
contractual cash flows of an instrument. When this happens, the Group assesses
whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The
Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces
the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
Significant extension of the term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty. 
Significant change in the interest rate.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial
asset and recognises a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest
rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of
initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of
determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the
Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-
impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was
driven by the borrower being unable to make the originally agreed payments.
Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss
on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not
result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on
the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss
in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the
modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective
interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been
transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to
other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions
are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:
(i)   Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the 
       assets;
(ii)  Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
(iii) Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material 
       delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase
agreements and securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised
because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the
predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not
met. 
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Derecognition other than on a modification

(i)  Financial assets (continued)
(a) Modification of financial assets



Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading
booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or
losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented
partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is
determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that
give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in
the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge,
an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in
the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;
Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for
derecognition, whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received
for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on
the financial liability; and
Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (see note 3 c ii).

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing
financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10%
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the
instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features
attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over
the remaining term of the modified liability.
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i)  Financial liabilities



Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

For financial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of
financial assets and liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry Group, pricing service or
regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being
inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or
significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions. When a market
becomes inactive, the valuation technique is the Group’s internally developed model which is
based on discounted cash flow analysis. 

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial
instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other
valuation techniques using input existing at the year end.

The Group uses an internally developed model which is generally consistent with other
valuation models used in the industry. Valuation models are used to value unlisted debt
securities and other debt securities for which the market has become or is illiquid. Some of the
inputs of this model may not be market observable and are therefore based on assumptions (see
note 4.a.).

Securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements (repos) are retained on the consolidated
statement of financial position as investment securities and the counterparty liability is
included in securities sold under repurchase agreement and borrowings. 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans to banks
or customers as appropriate.

The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the
life of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f.   Impairment of non-financial assets

g.  Offsetting financial instruments

h.  Determination of fair value

i.   Sale and repurchase agreements and lending of securities



For all new contracts entered into on or after 1 October 2019, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract that conveys the right-of-use of
an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration”. To assess whether a contract
conveys the right-of-use of an asset, the Group assesses whether:

the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract
or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group
the Group has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the
assets through the period of use
the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset throughout the period of use. The
Group has this right when it has the rights to direct “how and for what purpose” the asset is
used.

(i)  The Group as the lessee
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

j.   Lease transactions

The Group recognises leases as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group. The right of use is initially measured at the
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, any initial direct cost incurred,
an estimate of any cost to dismantle and remove the asset or to restore the asset and less any
lease incentive received.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the
same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. The Group also assess the right-of-use
asset for impairment when such indicators exists.

The Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, which is the Repo
rate. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:-

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentive
variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date
amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees
the exercise price under a purchase option, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
that option
lease payments in an optional renewal period, if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise
penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
this option

The lease liabilities will be remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments from
a change in rate or index or if the Group changes its assessments of whether it will exercise
an extension or termination option.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expenses in the consolidated statement of income. Short-term leases
are leases with a term of twelve (12) months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment
and small items of office furniture.



(ii) The Group as the lessor

Freehold premises are shown at fair value based on assessments performed by management or
by independent valuators every three years, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.
Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued
asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the
date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the assets and the net
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

All other property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of freehold premises are credited to
fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that affect previous increases of the same
assets are charged against fair value reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged
to the consolidated statement of income.

Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land.

The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:-

Buildings                                                               
Equipment and furniture                                 
Computer equipment and motor vehicles  
Leasehold improvements                               

The assets’ useful lives and residual values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each
reporting date. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

46   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

j.   Lease transactions (continued)

k.  Property and equipment

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is
recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present
value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is
recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which
reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset for each
period.

-    50 years 
-    4 - 5 years 
-    3 - 5 years 
-    Amortised over the life of the lease



The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates.
Only where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and there is sufficient
taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

l.   Income tax



(i)  Pension plan – First Citizens defined benefit pension plan

(ii) Profit sharing and bonus plans

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and due from banks are
comprised of cash balances on hand, deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased, that are readily
redeemable to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

m.  Employee benefits

n.  Cash and due from Banks

The Bank operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an amount of
pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or
more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. This pension plan is funded
by payments from employees and by the Bank, taking account of the recommendations of
independent qualified actuaries. 

The Bank's defined benefit plan operates as a plan which shares risks among subsidiaries of
the Group which are under common control. The Bank's policy is to recognise the net
defined benefit cost of the plan in the consolidated financial statements of First Citizens
Bank Limited, the entity which is legally considered the sponsoring employer of the plan.
The Bank recognises a cost equal to its contribution payable for its employees in its
separate financial statements. 

The liability or asset is recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position. In respect of
the defined benefit pension plan, as at September 2023, the defined benefit pension plan
asset represented the fair value of the plan’s asset less the present value of the obligation at
the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The Group’s contribution to
the plan amounted to $3.2M (2022: $3.2M) (Note 27 a). These contributions were recharged
by the Bank and settled through the intercompany.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the First Citizens Group's
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Included in the bonus and profit-sharing is a contribution to the employee share option
plan which is administered by the Bank.

Included in the Bank’s profit sharing and bonus plan is an employee stock option plan
which is settled with the Bank through an intercompany recharge.



o.  Net interest income and expense

p.  Dividend income

q.  Fee and commission income
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income for
all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on
the initial carrying amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income
investments, Promissory Notes (PNotes) and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills
and other discounted instruments. When a financial asset is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at
the original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or the
amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses
and includes transaction cost, premium, discounts and interest paid or received that are integral
to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.

For financial assets that are credit impaired (stage 3), interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the carrying value net of the expected credit loss provision.

For financial assets classified as Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI), interest
income is calculated by applying a Credit-Adjusted Effective Interest Rate (CAEIR) (based on an
initial expectation of further credit losses) to the amortised cost of these POCI assets. The CAEIR
is lower than the effective interest rate as the cash flows of the instruments are adjusted
downwards for the impact of expected credit losses.

Dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the entity’s right to
receive payment is established.

IFRS 15 ‘s core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of the transfer of goods and services to customers. The Group’s performance
obligations are very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts,
private placements, portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio
management.

Fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the service has been provided.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a
transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other
securities or the purchase or sale of businesses are recognised at a point in time on completion
of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are
recognised based on the applicable service contracts usually on a time apportioned basis, which
is normally on a monthly billing cycle at a point in time.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the
service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same
principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are
continuously provided over an extended period of time.Performance linked fees or fee
components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled at a point in time.



Brokerage & advisory fees are generally recognized at a point in time upon full completion of the
scope of works to the contract; however, for Initial Public Offerings and services of that nature
the performance obligation may be specific to the stage of completion of the services
performance obligation. In addition, some contracts may require variation to the performance
obligation based on the client specifications. These contracts would qualify for revenue
recognition over time. 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, exclusive of transaction costs.Subsequently,
borrowings are stated at amortised cost and any difference between proceeds net of transactions
costs and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved
by the Group’s Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year end,
are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of the obligation as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost.
The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the straight line
method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be consumed,
generally not exceeding 20 years.Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised.
At each date of the consolidated statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed
for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such
indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is
fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount.

The Group chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.
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(continued)

2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

q.  Fee and commission income (continued)

r.   Borrowings

s.  Dividend distribution

t.   Provisions

u.  Intangible assets



u.  Intangible assets (continued)
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2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(i) Goodwill

(ii) Other Intangible assets

(iii) Computer software

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to each of the Cash Generating Units (“CGU”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating
segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of
intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future
economic benefits attributed to the assets with flow from their use. The value of intangible
assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using income
approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if
any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their useful lives in a
manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flow.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.Computer software
development costs are recognised as assets when the following criteria are met:-

It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it
Management intends to complete the software and use it
There is an ability to use the software 
Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use it
The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured.



(iii) Computer software (continued)

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful
lives but not exceeding a period of three years.

The Group acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing
of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These
assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial statements, as
they are not assets of the Group (Note 3.d).
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2      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
u.  Intangible assets (continued)

v. Fiduciary activities

3      Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence
of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk
and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the First Citizens Group risk management framework. To assist the
Board of Directors in fulfilling its duties, two Board sub-committees were established to monitor
and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First Citizens Group - the First
Citizens Group Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit Committee; and two
Senior Management Committees- the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Management Committee
and the Asset Liability Committee.

The First Citizens Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer
(GCRO), reports to both Sub-Committees of the Board of Directors through the Senior
Management Committees. This unit is responsible for the management, measurement, monitoring
and control of operational, market and credit risk for the First Citizens Group through the First
Citizens Group Operational Risk and Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk Management Unit, Group
Market Risk Unit and Group Business Continuity Planning Unit. The First Citizens Group
Enterprise Risk Management Unit reports into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Management Committee to allow monitoring of the adherence to risk limits and the impact of
developments in the aforementioned risk areas on strategy and how strategy should be varied in
light of the developments.



The Asset/Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and other factors that can affect the Group’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to
acceptable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and
liabilities across the Bank and the Group’s various companies via the Treasury and International
Trade Centre. The Treasury and International Trade Centre’s primary role and responsibility is to
actively manage the First Citizens Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also supported
in some specific areas of activity by the First Citizens Group’s Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Bank Board of Directors establishes written principles for overall risk
management, as well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and
non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, the First Citizens Group Internal Audit
Department is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control
environment and reports its findings and recommendation to the Board Audit Committee.

Credit risk is managed by the Risk Management Committee (RMC), a subcommittee of the Board of
Directors , which has oversight and monitors the risk appetite for the investment portfolio for the
First Citizens Investment Services Ltd. (“the Group”).

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.Market risk includes
currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

a.     Credit risk
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk is a significant risk for the First Citizens Group’s business; management therefore
carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are
centralised in a First Citizens Group Credit Risk Management Unit which reports regularly to
the Group Chief Risk Officer and the Board Credit Committee. 

Credit risk arises mainly from investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from
its trading activities (‘trading exposures’) including non-equity trading portfolio assets and
derivatives as well as settlement balances with market counterparties and reverse repurchase
agreements.



a.     Credit risk (continued)
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

(i)    Credit risk management

(ii)   Credit risk grading

In its management of credit risks, the First Citizens Group has established an
organisational structure which supports the lending philosophy of the First Citizens
Group. This structure comprises the Board of Directors, the Board Credit Committee
(BCC), Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk
Officer (GCRO), the Credit Risk Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department. The
Board of Directors maintains general oversight to ensure that policies and procedures are
consistent with the strategic direction and credit philosophy of the First Citizens Group
and that they serve to bring the required level of protection over assets that are exposed
to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision making and timely implementation of
decisions, the Board has delegated authority for specific areas to specific committees
and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to the Board. The BCC focuses
primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions amendments to credit policies
and credit requests exceeding the authority of management.The SMERC together with the
GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may direct
changes to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus of the
Credit Risk Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance with
them and on a continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing business
environment.Most of these policies are established and communicated through the First
Citizens Group’s written Credit Policy Manual. 

The Group uses internal credit risk grading or ratings which reflect its assessment of the
risk profile or PD of counterparties. The Group utilises one (1) rating model for investment
securities. 

Investment securities

For sovereign and corporate investment securities, the ratings published by Standards
and Poor’s Rating Agency (S&P), where available, are used. For sovereigns with no S&P
rating, the Bank’s Research and Analytics Unit uses a model based on the S&P
methodology to generate a rating. For corporate investment securities with no S&P rating,
a rating is assigned using the Borrower Risk Rating (“BRR”) model.

S&P published ratings are continuously monitored and updated. The PD’s associated with
each rating are determined based on realised default over the prior 12 months, as
published by the rating agency. The ratings generated by the BRR model are also updated
annually. 



  S&P Rating 
  Research & Analytics Risk

Rating 
  (Investment Securities)  

  Interpretation 

Investment
Grade
  

  AAA, AA+   A+  
  Extremely Low Risk  

  AA, AA-    A  

  A+, A    A-    Very Low Risk  

  BBB+, BBB, BBB-    B+    Low Risk  

Speculative
Grade
  

  BB+, BB, BB-    B    Moderate Risk  

  B+, B, B-    B-    High Risk  

  CCC+, CCC, CCC-,    
  CC+, CC, CC-, C+,   

  C, C-
  C    Very High Risk  

  D    D    In Default  

a.     Credit risk (continued)
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(continued)

(iii)   Expected credit loss measurement

3      Financial risk management (continued)

(ii)    Credit risk grading (continued)

Investment securities (continued)

The Table below provides a comparative view of the rating models used by the Group:

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality
since initial recognition as summarised below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified
in Stage 1 and has its credit risk continuously monitored by The First Citizens Group.

If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. Please refer to note 3.a.iv for a description of how The First Citizens
Group determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then
moved to ‘Stage 3’. Please refer to note 3.a.vi for a description of how The First
Citizens Group defines credit-impaired and default.

For financial instruments in Stage 1, the respective ECL’s are measured at an amount
equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses within the next 12 months.
Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 respective ECL’s are measured based on the expected
credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 3.a.vii for a description of inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL.



  Change in credit quality since initial recognition

  Stage 1    Stage 2    Stage 3  

(Initial Recognition)  (Significant increase in credit risk) (Credit - impaired assets)  

12 month expected credit losses  Lifetime expected credit losses  Lifetime expected credit losses  

Criteria  Investment Grade Portfolio  
Single “B” Speculative Grade
Portfolio  

Absolute Measure  PD - 15% or higher   PD - 25% or higher  

AND  AND  AND  

Relative Measure  
One notch downgrade 
(investment securities rating scale)  

One notch downgrade 
(investment securities rating scale) 

OR  OR  OR  

Special Consideration  
Eurobonds with Trigger 3
Breaches  

Eurobonds with Trigger 3
Breaches  

(iii)   Expected credit loss measurement (continued)
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(continued)

(iv)     Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

The First Citizens Group has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial
instruments in the year ended 30 September 2023.

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information. Note 3.a.viii includes an explanation of how
The First Citizens Group has incorporated this in its ECL models.
Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets
that are credit- impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a
lifetime basis (Stage 3).

Further explanation is also provided of how The First Citizens Group determines
appropriate groupings when ECL is measured on a collective basis (refer to note 3.a.x).

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

The First Citizens Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a
significant increase in credit risk when one or more of the following criteria have been
met



Criteria  Investment Grade Portfolio  Single “B” Speculative Grade Portfolio  

Absolute Measure  PD – 12.5% or lower   PD - 25% or lower  

AND  AND  AND  

Relative Measure  
Credit rating reverts to level
just prior to the SICR  

One notch upgrade (investment
securities rating scale)  

OR  OR  OR  

Special Consideration  No credit stop loss breaches  No credit stop loss breaches  

(iv)     Significant decrease in credit risk (SDCR)
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(continued)

(iv)    Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

The First Citizens Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a
significant decrease in credit risk when one or more of the following criteria have been
met: 

The First Citizens Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully
aligned with the definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the
following criteria:

Quantitative criteria

The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in
significant financial difficulty. These are instances where:

The borrower formally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of
foreclosure or restructure proceedings or an indication of the intention to
restructure is initiated by the borrower.
The obligation is classified doubtful or worse as per The First Citizens Group’s
classification process.
A modification to terms and conditions of the original investment that would not
normally be considered is executed and where the change in the present value of the
cashflows of the new proposed investment versus the original exceed 10%.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and
are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability
of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the
Group expected loss calculations.



(vi)   Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (continued)

(vii)  Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)
a.     Credit risk (continued)

Qualitative criteria (continued)

An investment instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured)
when it has been restructured. An exception exists for credit impaired facilities at
origination.

Purchase Originated Credit-Impaired (POCI)

POCI financial assets are those for which one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows have already occurred. Indicators include:

Borrower or issuer is experiencing significant financial difficulty; 
A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 
The granting of an uncustomary concession(s) by the lender(s) as a result of the
borrower's financial difficulty; 
A high likelihood of bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation by the borrower; 
The loss of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or 
The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the
incurred credit losses.

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a twelve (12) month (12M) or lifetime
basis depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial
recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit
losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default
(EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:

PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as
defined in note 3.a.iv), either over the next twelve (12) months (12M PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. 

EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default,
either over the next twelve (12) months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime
(Lifetime EAD). The EAD is calculated as the outstanding balance of the investment.

LGD - For sovereign investment securities, LGDs are obtained from Moody’s Investor
Services’ Data Report on Sovereign Default and Recovery Rates (1983-2022).
Corporate investment securities LGDs are based on the standard terms for North
American corporate entities CDS contracts, taken from Moody’s Analytics’ CDS-
implied EDF™ Credit Measures and Fair-value Spreads.

There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the reporting period.



(vi)   Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking information. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.

Determination of macroeconomic scenarios and probabilities 

For each country in which the Group has investment securities, management performs
scenario analysis to determine the impact of future economic conditions on the PD in
these countries. To increase the robustness of the model, Management adopted a
bivariate model to determine two MEV’s for key sovereigns. Correlation analysis is
conducted between the two MEVs and key sovereign risk metrics to determine which are
most significant. These MEVs are determined either by correlation analysis or by
Management’s judgement, based on knowledge of the sovereign, in which case the MEVs
will only be chosen for use in the model if they correlate with the credit rating drivers
and meet a priori expectations. Three selected sovereign credit risk metrics are identified
as sovereign credit rating drivers to quantity the impact of the MEVs on each credit risk
driver. To establish scenarios, the MEVs are shocked such that the official forecast for
each year moves up and down by a multiple of the historical standard deviation to
establish a best and worse case. The new values derived are run through a regression
model to quantify the relationship between the credit rating and the scenarios. Data used
in the update of the model as at 30 September 2023 incorporated the current global
economic conditions, as such the forward looking scenarios factored in the economic
shocks, including tighter monetary policy and sticky underlying inflation pressures.

The following are the lead sovereign indicators used in the macroeconomic overlay, the
lead indicators remained unchanged from the prior year unless indicated:

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO:
Lead Indicators: 

WTI Oil Price 
T&T FX Reserves 

Both indicators are negatively related to sovereign risk, suggesting that higher oil price
and FX reserves will positively impact upon the economy and therefore reduce ECLs. 

BARBADOS 
Lead Indicators:

US Unemployment Rate (2022: US 10 Year Yield)
UK Unemployment Rate (2022: UK Unemployment Rate)

Both indicators are positively related to sovereign risk, such that both the US
Unemployment rate and UK Unemployment rate move in the same direction as
Barbados’ sovereign risk. This suggest that higher US and UK joblessness may negatively
impact upon Barbados’ economy and therefore likely to increase ECLs.

ST LUCIA/ ST VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES/ ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA
Lead Indicators:

US GDP Growth Rate 
US Unemployment Rate 



  August-2023  

Current rating    2024    2025   2026

BBB-   Base    Best  Worst    Base  Worst    Best   Base    Worst    Best  

   BBB-    BBB    BB+    BB+    BB+    BBB-    BB   BB    BBB-  

Probability of
Transition (in %)   

79.19%  14.34%  6.47%    41.86%  58.14%    58.77%    41.23%  

(viii)  Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models (continued)
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)
a.     Credit risk (continued)

Determination of macroeconomic scenarios and probabilities (continued)

US GDP growth rate is negatively related to sovereign risk of the ECCU members,
suggesting that increases in US GDP growth reduces ECL, while US unemployment rate
is positively related to sovereign risk, indicating that as US unemployment rate rises, the
ECCU economies are negatively impacted, resulting in higher ECLs. 

While there are other components that may impact upon the final ECLs, from a
macroeconomic perspective, by using the link between the lead economic variables and
sovereign risk, we generalise that once the lead indictors positively impact the
economies, ECLs are likely to decline. On the other hand, if the lead indicators negatively
impact the economies, ECLs are likely to increase. 

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking information. The First Citizens
Group has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.

For example, the following credit ratings were forecasted for the next three years using
these macro-economic scenarios for Trinidad and Tobago. The weightings applied to the
forecasted ratings were 60% for year 1, 20% each for year 2 and 3. These weightings were
determined based on management’s judgment and experience.



(viii)     Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models (continued)

(ix)   Risk limit control and mitigation policies 
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

(a)  Single investor or industry exposure limits

(b) Country exposure limits

(c) Collateral

Determination of macroeconomic scenarios and probabilities (continued)
These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. Management judgment has also been applied in this process.
Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are provided by
the Economic Research Unit on a periodic basis and provide the best estimate view of
the economy over the next three years. After three years, to project the economic
variables out for the full remaining lifetime of each instrument, a mean reversion
approach has been used.

The First Citizens Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing
limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of
borrowers, and to geographical segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis
and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits
on the level of credit risk by product and by country are approved annually by the
Group’s Board of Directors. Actual exposures against limits are monitored regularly and
reported to the Group’s Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors.

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed by the First Citizens Group
for this purpose. The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to 6 with 1 being
the least risky. Exposure limits as a percentage of the total credit portfolio have been
established for the various country exposure categories based on the risk ranking.

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered
to be within the Group’s target market. Three (3) risk categories have been
developed and the selected countries have been assigned to these categories based
either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Group’s own internal
assessment of the economic and political stability of the target. Maximum cross
border exposure has been limited to a pre-determined portion of total assets and
this amount is allocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being
allocated to the more highly rated categories.

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The
most traditional of these is the taking of collateral to secure investments. Investment
securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the
exception of asset-backed securities and similar instruments, which are secured by
portfolios of financial instruments.



(ix)   Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

(d)   Liquidity support agreement

The terms of the Liquidity Support Agreement (LSA) under which First Citizens Bank
Limited (the Bank) acquired Caribbean Money Market Brokers Limited (CMMB), now First
Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS), outlined certain financial assurances given by
the Government of Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT) to the Bank, that provided
for the indemnification of the Bank against various claims, losses or liabilities if incurred
by FCIS within a stipulated period of time after the date of acquisition in relation to
obligations existing or default on assets owned by FCIS at the date of the acquisition. 

The LSA dated 15 May 2009 and made between the GORTT, the Central Bank of Trinidad
and Tobago (CBTT) and the Bank provided that all reasonable claims by the Bank in
respect of such losses were expected to be settled, once the Bank had made all reasonable
efforts to recover or resist such claims, losses or liabilities. The Bank committed to
reimburse FCIS for any losses incurred by FCIS against which the Bank has been
indemnified. 

Losses which are covered under the LSA include losses in respect of balances due from CL
Financial and its affiliates accruing from the date that CMMB was acquired by the Bank to
the greater of the maturity date of the obligation or 6 years from the date of completion of
the share transfer of CMMB to the Bank. 

The Ministry of Finance continues to recognize its commitment under the LSA agreement
by way of granting consecutive extensions under the Liquidity Support Agreement for
successive periods from 16 May 2015 with the most recent being from 1 March 2024 to 28
February 2025. 

Interest continues to accrue at 4% and 5% for the CL Financial USD PNOTE and the CL
Financial TTD commercial paper respectively. As at the statement of financial position
date, the amount of Promissory Notes due was US$113,090,732 and the amount of the
Commercial Paper due TT$275,682,389. The LSA extension was executed on 8 September
2022 confirming the extension to the expiration of the LSA on 29 February 2024, a
subsequent extension was received on 6 October 2023 for the period 1 March 2024 to 28
February 2025. These are classified as amortized cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position. 



30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

  Gross maximum exposure
      2023        2022  
      $’000         $’000  

Cash and due from banks    368,689   452,616
Financial assets  
  - Fair value through other comprehensive income    1,694,909   1,701,712
  - Amortised cost      3,775,188   3,772,452
Other assets (note 12)   149,035   26,512

       5,987,821   5,953,292

(x)  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancement
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The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached.
For on-consolidated statement of financial position assets, the exposures set out above are
based on gross carrying amounts before impairment. There are no credit risk exposures
relating to off-consolidated statement of financial position items. 

As shown above, 9% of the total maximum exposure is derived from cash and due from
banks and receivables (2022: 8%); while 91% represents investments in other debt securities
(2022: 92%).

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure
of credit risk to the Group resulting from both its cash and due from banks and assets held
at amortised cost portfolio and its other debt securities based on the following:

The Group has maintained a stringent selection process for investing in securities with
none of the impaired assets coming from new investments made in the current financial
year.
The collateral package or financial assurances in place in support of receivables
minimises the probability of losses on this portfolio.
For September 2023, more than 50.8% (2022: 48.6%) of the investments in debt securities
and other bills have at least a BBB- based on Standards & Poor’s Ratings.
As per Note 3.a.ix.d ‘Risk limit control and mitigation policies- Liquidity Support
Agreement’, management is confident that given the agreement to transfer the benefits
of such assurances by First Citizens Bank Limited to the Group, the Group would realise
no losses on these assets. The amount outstanding to the Group stood at TT$281M and
US$113.6M as at 30 September 2023 (2022: TT$276.6M and US$110.5M) and continues to
accrue interest.
The Group’s portfolio carries exposure to the credit risk of the Government of Barbados
securities which at the consolidated statement of financial position date accounted for
BB$120M, 7.476% of the value of Investment Securities (2022: BB$115M, 6.703%).
Included in this portfolio are POCI bonds with an amortized value of BB$117M (2022:
BB$112M) and a face value of BB$132M (2022:BB$132M).
The Group’s exposure to the GORTT debt included in financial assets as at 30 September
2023 was TT$1.6B, 28.41% (2022: TT$1.7B, 28.09%).

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposures relating to financial assets carried on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:



30 September 2023  
   Fair value through

other comprehensive
income securities  

  Amortised 
cost 

securities  
   Total   

  $’000    $’000    $’000  
Investment grade    1,364,304     1,412,712     2,835,454   
Speculative grade    330,604   2,362,476     2,634,643   

Total    1,694,909     3,775,188     5,470,097  

30 September 2022  
Fair value through

other comprehensive
income securities  

  Amortised 
cost 

securities   
   Total   

  $’000    $’000    $’000  
Investment grade    1,333,922     1,324,672     2,658,594   
Speculative grade    367,790     2,447,780     2,815,570   

Total    1,701,712     3,772,452     5,474,164   

(xi)   Financial assets 

(xii)  Debt and other investment securities
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

Included in amortised cost past due but not impaired are amounts due from CL Financial
and its affiliates of $1B which matured but are indemnified under the Liquidity Support
Agreement (LSA) (2022: $1B). 

Further, the material indemnified amount outstanding under the Liquidity Support
Agreement represents certain Promissory Note and Commercial Paper obligations which
were and are due and owing by CL Financial Limited to CMMB (now First Citizens
Investment Services Limited (“FCIS”). The GORTT has since petitioned to the Court to
wind up CL Financial on the basis that the CL Financial was unable to pay its debts and
that it was just and equitable that the Company be wound up. On 25 July 2017, the Court of
Appeal, ordered the appointment of a joint provisional liquidator over the assets of that
company pending the determination of the winding up petition. The bank continues to
pursue CL Financial liquidators on the adjudicated and admitted amounts.

It is against this background that management made a formal claim/demand by the
submissions of (Claim #16) indicating the Bank’s intention to claim for the full settlement
by 30 September 2023 in accordance with the Bank’s right to be indemnified in respect of
those obligations under the terms of the LSA. All principal and interest payments due on
these advances are covered under the LSA as detailed in 3.a.x.d.

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities by internal, external and
equivalent rating agency designation.



  Investments  
  30 September 2023  

  Stage 1    Stage 2    Stage 3  
  POCI  

  Total  
  12-month ECL    Lifetime ECL    Lifetime ECL  

  $'000    $'000    $'000    $’000    $'000  
  Credit rating                    
  Investment grade     2,777,016     --     --    --      2,777,016  
  Non-investment grade     2,273,039      22,371    --    397,671      2,693,081  
  Gross investments    5,050,055    22,371    --    397,671    5,470,097  
  Loss allowance - ECL    (22,600)    (555)    --    --    (23,155)  

  Carrying balance    5,027,455    21,816    --    397,671    5,446,942
      Investments  
       30 September 2022  

  Stage 1    Stage 2    Stage 3  
  POCI  

  Total  
  12-month ECL    Lifetime ECL    Lifetime ECL  

  $'000    $'000    $'000    $’000    $'000  
  Credit rating       
  Investment grade    2,658,594     --    --    --    2,658,594   
  Non-investment grade    2,374,599     58,634     --    382,337    2,815,570   
  Gross investments    5,033,193     58,634     --    382,337     5,474,164  
  Loss allowance - ECL    (36,623)     (5,260)     --    --    (41,883)  

  Carrying balance    4,996,570     53,374     --    382,337    5,432,281  

(xiii)  Debt and other investment securities (continued)

65   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

(xiv) Loss allowance

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described
below: 

Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing
significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the
period, and the consequent step up (or step down) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;
Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well
as releases for financial instruments de-recognised in the period;
Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period,
arising from regular refreshing of inputs to models;
Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;
Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present
value basis;
Foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other
movements; and
Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to
assets that were written off during the period. 

3      Financial risk management (continued)
a.     Credit risk (continued)

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial
instruments. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.



       Stage 1         Stage 2         Stage 3     Total  
       12-month 

     ECL  
       Lifetime 

      ECL  
       Lifetime 

     ECL  
      $’000          $’000          $’000        $’000   

  Loss allowance as at 1 October 2022    (36,623)   (5,260)   --   (41,883) 
  Movement with P&L Impact                  
  Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2    --   --   --   -- 
  Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1    --   --   --   -- 
  New financial assets originated    (114)   --   --   (114) 
  Change in PDS/LGDs/EADs    13,315   2,489   --   15,804 
  Disposal/ Maturities of Investment    822   2,216   --   3,038 
  Modifications of contractual cash flows    --   --   --   -- 
  Unwind of discounts   --   --   --   -- 
  FX and other movements     --   --   --   -- 
  Total net P&L charge during the period: (Note 25)    14,023   4,705   --   18,728 
  Write-offs    --   --   --   -- 

  Loss allowance as at 30 September 2023    (22,600)   (555)   --   (23,155) 

  Stage 1    Stage 2    Stage 3    Total  

  12-month 
ECL  

  Lifetime 
ECL  

  Lifetime 
ECL

   $’000      $’000      $’000      $’000   
  Loss allowance as at 1 October 2021    (27,255)   (11,266)   --   (38,521) 
  Movement with P&L Impact                  
  Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2    --   --   --   -- 
  Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1    (8)   8   --   -- 
  New financial assets originated    (251)   (575)   --   (826) 
  Change in PDS/LGDs/EADs    (12,371)   2,461   --   (9,910) 
  Disposal/ Maturities of Investment    3,246   4,113   --   7,359 
  Modifications of contractual cash flows    --   --   --   -- 
  Unwind of discounts    --   --   --   -- 
  FX and other movements     (206)   --   --   (206) 
  Total net P&L charge during the period: (Note 25)    (9,590)   6,007   --   (3,583) 
  Write-offs    222   (1)   --   221 

  Loss allowance as at 30 September 2022    (36,623)   (5,260)   --   (41,883) 

(xiv)  Loss allowance (continued)

66   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)



Investments  
       Stage 1           Stage 2       Stage 3        POCI         Total  

       12-month 
       ECL  

          Lifetime 
         ECL  

   Lifetime 
    ECL  

      $'000            $'000       $'000        $’000         $'000  
Gross carrying balance as at 1 October 2022   5,033,193   58,634   --   382,337   5,474,164 
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1    --   --   --   --   -- 
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3    --   --   --   --   -- 
New financial assets originated    599,892   6,180   --   --   606,072 
Disposal/Maturities of investment     (627,351)   (59,135)   --   --   (686,486) 
Unwind of discounts    44,321   16,692   --   15,334   76,347 
FX and other movements     --   --   --   --   -- 

Change in the carrying value    16,862   (36,263)   --   15,334   (4,067) 
Gross carrying balance as at 30 September
2023   5,050,055   22,371   --   397,671   5,470,097 

Investments  
           Stage 1        Stage 2        Stage 3     POCI         Total  

     
       12-month 

       ECL  
      Lifetime 

      ECL  
      Lifetime 

      ECL  
          

           $'000        $'000         $'000     $’000         $'000  
Gross carrying balance as at 1 October 2021   5,795,978   176,620   --   364,926   6,337,524 
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1   2,494   (2,494)   --   --   -- 
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3    --   --   --   --   -- 
New financial assets originated    736,450   43,121   --   --   779,571 
Disposal/Maturities of  investment     (1,165,798)   (149,704)   --   --  1,315,502) 
Unwind of discounts    (335,931)   (8,909)   --   17,411   (327,429) 
FX and other movements     --   --   --   --   -- 

Change in the carrying value    (762,785)   (117,986)   --   17,411   (863,360) 
Gross carrying balance as at 30 September
2022    5,033,193   58,634   --   382,337   5,474,164 

(xiv)  Loss allowance (continued)
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the
Investment portfolio to help explain their significance to the changes in the loss
allowance.



     Asia  
    North    

  America  

    South & 
  Central  

  America  
    Caribbean 

     Other    
     countries             Total  

  $000   $000   $000   $000   $000   $000 
Cash and due from Banks    --   10,661   --   358,028   --   368,689 
Financial assets:                          
  - Fair value through other  
     comprehensive income

  13,628   762,054   180,157   674,788   62,462   1,693,089 

  - Amortised cost   --   --   -- 3,753,853   --   3,753,853 
Other assets    --   122,308   --   26,727   --   149,035 

At 30 September 2023    13,628   895,023   180,157   4,813,396   62,462   5,964,666

(xv)  Write-off policy 

(xvi)  Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure – Geographical sectors
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all
practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing
enforcement activity and (ii) where the Group’s effort to dispose of repossess collateral is
such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The
outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 30
September 2023 was nil (2022: nil). The Group still seeks to recover amounts it is legally
owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation
of full recovery.

The following table breaks down the Group’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical region. For this table, the Group has allocated
exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties. The Group’s
investment portfolio, comprising cash and cash equivalents, financial assets – receivables,
fair value through other comprehensive income, amortised cost, held for trading and
repurchase receivables, is diversified across 20 countries. Limits for each country are
reviewed on an annual or more frequent basis and the exposures are monitored on a
daily basis. The country exposures are categorised into five regional sectors and the
sector concentrations within the portfolio are as follows:



  Asia  
  North

  America
  

  South
  & Central
America

Caribbean  
  Other

  countries
  Total  

  $000    $000    $000   $000    $000   $000  
Cash and due from Banks   --   7,069   --   445,547   --   452,616
Financial assets:
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income

  13,289   301,297   220,730 1,090,706   71,299 1,697,321

- Amortised cost    --   --   -- 3,734,961   -- 3,734,961
Other assets    --   188   129  26,195   --   26,512

At 30 September 2022    13,289   308,554   220,859 5,297,409   71,299 5,911,410

(xvii) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure – Geographical sectors
(continued)
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(continued)

b.     Market risk

3      Financial risk management (continued)

a.     Credit risk (continued)

The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks
arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are
exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of
market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity
prices. 

The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by
the First Citizens Group Market Risk department who submit reports to the Senior
Management Enterprise Risk Management Committee on a regular basis and also reports via
the First Citizens Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit to the Board Enterprise Risk
Management Committee to enable Board oversight of market risk issues.  Additionally, on a
monthly basis, the First Citizens Group’s Pricing Committee reviews and approves the yield
curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO. This
Committee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that
may be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time. 

Trading portfolios are those positions entered into primarily to take advantage of market
movements to generate capital gains.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from investments held as collateral for repurchase
agreements. Non-trading portfolios also entail foreign exchange and equity risks arising from
the Group’s amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income investments. 



(i)  Market risk measurement techniques
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(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)

As part of the management of market risk, the Group uses duration management and other
portfolio strategies to manage market risk. The major measurement techniques used to
measure and control market risk are outlined below.

Value at risk

The Group applies a ‘value at risk’ methodology (VAR) to its trading and non-trading
portfolios, to estimate the market risk of positions held and the maximum losses expected,
based upon a number of assumptions for various changes in market conditions. VAR
measurements capture potential losses arising from changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. The Board sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted for the
Group’s, trading and non-trading portfolios, which are monitored on a daily basis by First
Citizens Group Market Risk Unit.

VAR is a statistically based estimate of the potential loss on the current portfolio from
adverse market movements. It expresses the ‘maximum’ amount the Group might lose, at a
certain level of confidence (99%) under normal market conditions.

The First Citizens Group Market Risk calculates VAR using a 99% confidence level. The
VAR model assumes a certain ‘holding period’ until positions can be closed (10 days for
Eurobonds and 30 days for other securities). For comparability purposes the 1-day VAR
for the portfolio segments are disclosed in the following section. A parametric approach is
used in calculating VAR which uses the volatility, correlation and relative weights of the
securities in the portfolio. Actual outcomes are monitored regularly to test the validity of
the assumptions and parameters/factors used in the VAR calculation.

The use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of
more significant market movements.

Actual exposure against limits is monitored by Risk Management on a daily basis. There
are Board approved limits set on the portfolio VAR. A breach in these limits would trigger
actions by the management of the Group to reduce risk on the portfolio. These actions can
include hedging of the portfolio or specific positions or sale of securities to bring the
portfolio back within limit.

The quality of the VAR model is continuously monitored by back-testing the VAR results.
All back-testing exceptions and any exceptional revenues on the profit side of the VAR
distribution are investigated.

Stress tests

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme
conditions. The stress tests carried out by risk management include interest rate stress
testing, where movements in the yield curve are applied to each investment.

The Group stressed test the portfolio at 30 September 2023 based on a 100 basis point (1%)
upward parallel shift in all yield curves which resulted in unrealized mark to market losses
of $200.14M (2022: $205.68M). 

The results of the stress tests are reviewed by senior management, the Risk Management
Committee and by the Board of Directors. 



  USD    EC    JMD    BBD  

  $'000    $'000    $'000    $'000  

  At 30 September 2023  

  Gain/(loss)    17,129    (2,601)    7,379    1,373  

  At 30 September 2022                      

  Gain/(loss)    14,561    (3,371)    10,996    1,079  

  30 September 2023    30 September 2022  

Average
  $’000  

  High
  $’000  

  Low
  $’000  

Average
  $’000  

  High
  $’000  

  Low
  $’000  

Trading    9,015     14,618     6,140     13,512     19,635     8,642   

Non-trading    12,598     21,653     9,665     21,792     30,080     15,973   

Total VAR    21,613     36,271     15,805     35,304     49,715     24,615   

(i)     Market risk measurement techniques (continued)
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(continued)

Group 1-day VAR by portfolio

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)

Stress tests (continued)

Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the effect of a
2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the respective currencies is as
follows:



  TT
  $’000  

  US
  $’000  

  EC
  $’000

  JMD
  $’000

  BBD
  $’000

 Other
 $’000 

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2023  

  Assets  

  Cash and due from Banks    165,284   48,474 137,662   110   16,909   250   368,689 

  Financial assets                              

  - Fair value through other  
     comprehensive income

  3,100  1,694,272   68  302,652   4,139   --   2,004,231 

  - Amortised cost    1,685,299   900,208  749,830   --   418,516   --   3,753,853 

  - Fair value through profit or loss    --   158   --   --   402   --   560 

  Other assets    20,683   124,489   3,529   --   334   --   149,035 

  Total assets    1,874,366  2,767,601  891,089  302,762   440,300   250   6,276,368 

  Liabilities  

  Borrowings    200,634  1,092,051   --   --   --   --   1,292,685 

  Funds under management    4,765   376   --   --   875   79   6,095 

  Securities sold under repurchase  
  agreements  

  1,306,659   620,678  893,257   --   379,127   --   3,199,721 

  Loan from parent company    --   272,090   --   --   --   --   272,090 

  Creditors and accrued expenses    56,212   16,746  104,479   --   5,343   --   182,780 

  Total liabilities    1,568,270  2,001,941  997,736   --   385,345   79   4,953,371 

  Net on-consolidated
  statement of financial position

  306,096   765,660 (106,647)  302,762   54,955   171   1,322,997 

(ii)    Foreign exchange risk
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the
Group not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits on
the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are monitored
periodically. The Group’s strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and sell high;
establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign exchange
exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and match foreign
currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities. The Group
does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency risk. The table
below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 30
September 2023. Included in the table are the Group’s financial instruments at TTD
equivalents, categorised by currency.



   
  

  TT
  $’000  

  US
  $’000  

  EC
  $’000  

  JMD
  $’000  

  BBD
  $’000  

  Other
  $’000  

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2022  
  Assets  
  Cash and due from Banks    158,159   195,096   80,079   109   19,013   160     452,616 
  Financial assets  
  - Fair value through other  
     comprehensive income

  4,463  1,698,507   56   430,040   4,443   --   2,137,509 

  - Amortised cost  1,611,738   884,019   816,683   --   422,521   --  3,734,961 
  - Fair value through profit or loss    1   162   --   --   473   --    636 
  Other assets    11,303   1,304   3,689   9,885   331   --    26,512 

  Total assets 1,785,664  2,779,088   900,507   440,034   446,781   160  6,352,234
  Liabilities  
  Borrowings    200,741  1,091,979   --   --   --   --   1,292,720 
  Funds under management    4,766   376   --   --   1,008   71     6,221 
  Securities sold under
  repurchase agreements  

  1,153,108   755,770   973,770   --   397,463   --  3,280,111 

  Loan from parent company    --   257,107   --   --   --   --    257,107 
  Creditors and accrued expenses    41,435   18,307   64,958   --   5,413   --    130,113 

  Total liabilities  1,400,050  2,123,539   1,038,728   --   403,884   71   4,966,272 
  Net on-consolidated statement of  
  financial position   385,614   655,549   (138,221)   440,034   42,897   89   1,385,962 

(ii)    Foreign exchange risk (continued)
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Included in the “Other” category are assets and liabilities held in UK pound sterling, Euro and
Canadian dollars. A 2.5% increase or decrease in any of these currencies would not significantly
impact the Group’s profit.

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)



   
  

  Up to 1
month
  $’000  

  1 to 3
months
  $’000  

  3 to 12
months
  $’000  

  1 to 5
years

  $’000  

  Over 5
years

  $’000  

  Non-
interest
bearing
  $’000  

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2023  

  Assets  

  Cash and due from Banks    70,483   744   2,473   --   --   294,989   368,689 

  Financial assets  

  - Fair value through
     other comprehensive income  

  2,315  140,131   341,830   705,046   503,767   -- 1,693,089 

  - Amortised cost    899   29,379 1,173,565 1,256,453 1,293,557   -- 3,753,853 

  Other assets    --   --   --   --   --   149,035   149,035 

  Total assets   73,697  170,254 1,517,868 1,961,499 1,797,324   444,024  5,964,666 

  Borrowings   189,839   --   902,846   200,000   --   --  1,292,685 

  Funds under management    6,095   --   --   --   --   --   6,095 

  Securities sold under
  repurchase agreements  

 391,949  742,372  1,621,162   444,238   --   --  3,199,721 

  Loan from parent company    27,593   --   6,419   238,078   --   --   272,090 

  Creditors and accrued expenses    --   --   --   --   --   182,780   182,780 

  Total liabilities  615,476  742,372  2,530,427   882,316  --   182,780  4,953,371 

  Interest sensitivity gap  (541,779) (572,11) (1,012,559) 1,079,183 1,797,324   261,244  1,011,295 

(iii)   Interest rate risk

74   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income
resulting from changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-
pricing between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk is
the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of
such changes but may also reduce resulting in losses in the event that unexpected
movements arise. The Group’s objective in the management of its interest rate risk is to
reduce the sensitivity of its earnings and overall portfolio value to fluctuations in the
interest rate. The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. 



   
  

  Up to 1
month
  $’000  

  1 to 3
months
  $’000  

  3 to 12
months
  $’000  

  1 to 5
years

  $’000  

  Over 5
years

  $’000  

Non-
interest
bearing
  $’000  

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2022  

  Assets  

  Cash and due from Banks    172,630   735   2,458   --   --   276,793   452,616 

  Financial assets

  - Fair value through other 
     comprehensive income  

  855   428,003   9,593   517,396   741,474   --   1,697,321 

  - Amortised cost    16,257   54,534 1,082,348 1,160,545 1,421,277   --   3,734,961 

  Other assets    --   --   --   --   --   26,512   26,512 

  Total assets   189,742   483,272 1,094,399 1,677,941 2,162,751   303,305   5,911,410 

  Borrowings    6,461   --   201,034 1,085,225   --   --   1,292,720 

  Funds under management    6,221   --   --   --   --   --   6,221 

  Securities sold under
  repurchase agreements  

  378,612   651,831 1,759,078   490,590   --   --   3,280,111 

  Loan from parent company    7,645   --   --   249,462   --   --   257,107 

  Creditors and accrued expenses   --   --   --   --   --   130,113   130,113 

  Total liabilities   398,939   651,831 1,960,112 1,825,277   --   130,113   4,966,272 

 Interest sensitivity gap (209,197) (168,559) (865,713) (147,336) 2,162,751   173,192   945,138 

              (iii)   Interest rate risk (continued)
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Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income resulting from
changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-pricing between interest rate
sensitive assets and liabilities. If interest rates were to move by 1%, the impact on net interest
income would be $12.6M (2022: $12.6M).

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)



  Originating
currency   

  Functional
currency   

  JMD     TTD  
  '000    '000  

  Equities instruments recognised in OCI 
  As at 1 October 2022  
  Equity Instruments    9,795,889    430,040  
  Additions    --    --  
  Disposals    --    --  
  FX     --    (7,837)  

  MTM Movement     (2,773,792)    (119,550)

  As at 30 September 2023    7,022,097    302,653  

  Equities instruments recognised in OCI 
  As at 1 October 2021  
  Equity Instruments    9,813,140    438,647  
  Additions    --    --  
  Disposals    --    --  
  FX     --    (7,850)  
  MTM Movement     (17,251)    (757)  

  As at 30 September 2022    9,795,889    430,040  

(iv)   Other price risk
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Price sensitivity

These securities are listed in Jamaica; if prices for equity securities listed in Jamaica move
by 15% with all other variables including tax being held constant, the effects on the other
comprehensive income would have been TT$45.5M in 2023 and TT$64.5M in 2022.

FX sensitivity

If the JMD appreciates by 250 basis points against the USD, the OCI would increase by
TT$1.3M (2022: increase by TT$4.3M). The average change for the last three (3) years was
29 basis points (2022: 44 basis points). The change for 2023 was 15 basis points (2022: 25
basis points).

3      Financial risk management (continued)

b.     Market risk (continued)

Other price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those
arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all
similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Group is affected by changing
prices of equity instruments mainly classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income securities with fair value movements recognised in shareholders’ equity. These
investments are held for strategic reasons and risk is managed via exposure limits. As at
30 September 2023, the Group’s significant holding is as follows:



c.  Liquidity risk
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or
its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall due
under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The Group is
exposed to daily liquidity risk of its available cash resources from its current accounts, funds
under management, borrowing arrangement and margin calls. The Group does not maintain
cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows that a minimum level of
reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty.

Liquidity risk management process

The First Citizens Group’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and
International Trade Centre and monitored by the Group’s Asset/Liability Committee (ALCO).
The First Citizens Group’s liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are
adequate reserves of cash and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective
commitments arising from either on-statement of financial position or off-statement of
financial position liabilities. The Group relies on a broad range of funding sources and applies
prudent limits to avoid undue concentration.  Current and projected cash flows are monitored,
together with diversification of funding and contingency planning, and ensuring that funding
disturbances are minimised. The Group manages liquidity risk using both expected and
contractual cash flows through its investment portfolio strategy for its business model.  The
Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by accessing additional funding
sources such as the existing facility with its parent company, asset-backed financing from
commercial banks and securities brokers.

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by First Citizens Group Market Risk
Unit and reported into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Management Committee and via
the First Citizens Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit to the Board Enterprise Risk
Management Committee.



   
  

  Up to 1
month
  $’000  

  1 to 3
months
  $’000  

  3 to 12
months
  $’000  

  1 to 5
years

  $’000  

  Over 5
years

  $’000  

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2023  

  Assets  

  Cash and due from Banks    368,706   --   --   --   --   368,706 

  Financial assets  

  - Fair value through other 
     comprehensive income  

  157,892   142,933   243,248   954,836   807,225  2,306,134 

  - Amortised cost    11,270   50,157   314,081  2,802,592  1,889,668  5,067,768 

  Other assets    149,035   --   --   --   --   149,035 

  Total assets    686,903   193,090   557,329  3,757,428  2,696,893  7,891,643 

  Liabilities  

  Borrowings    191,621   --   924,063   210,284   --  1,325,968 

  Funds under management    6,095   --   --   --   --   6,095 

  Securities sold under 
  repurchase agreements

  388,697   745,013  1,642,539   464,378   --  3,240,627 

  Loan from parent company    27,602   --   6,419   257,391   --   291,412 

  Lease liabilities    124   283   1,219   4,495   --   6,121 

  Creditors and accrued expenses    182,780   --   --   --   --   182,780 

  Total liabilities    796,919   745,296   2,574,240   936,548   --  5,053,003 

  Net liquidity position    (110,016)   (552,206)   (2,016,911)   2,820,880   2,696,893  2,838,640 

The table below analyses financial assets and liabilities of the Group by remaining contractual
maturities at the consolidated statement of financial position date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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c.  Liquidity risk (continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)



  Up to 1
month
  $’000  

  1 to 3
months
  $’000  

  3 to 12
months
  $’000  

  1 to 5
years

  $’000  

  Over 5
years

  $’000  

  Total
  $’000  

  At 30 September 2022
  Assets  
  Cash and due from Banks    452,633   --   --   --   --   452,633 
  Financial assets
  - Fair value through other comprehensive income    428,566   6,874   61,473   803,501  1,163,825  2,464,239 
  - Amortised cost    25,596   107,643   193,748  2,694,332  2,076,122  5,097,441 
  Other assets    26,512   --   --   --   --   26,512 

  Total assets   933,307   114,517   255,221  3,497,833  3,239,947  8,040,825 
  Liabilities  
  Borrowings    8,244   --   226,858  1,108,829   --  1,343,931 
  Funds under management    6,221   --   --   --   --   6,221 
  Securities sold under repurchase agreements   375,378   653,583  1,782,383   513,275   --  3,324,619 
  Loan from parent company    7,645   --   2,436   267,174   --   277,255 
  Lease liabilities    324   286   1,365   3,416   --   5,391 
  Creditors and accrued expenses    130,113   --   --   --   --   130,113 

  Total liabilities   527,925   653,869  2,013,042  1,892,694   --  5,087,530 

  Net liquidity position   405,382   (539,352) (1,757,821)  1,605,139  3,239,947  2,953,295 
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Assets available to meet all of the Group’s liabilities include cash and due from banks; receivables
and liquid debt securities. In the normal course of business, a proportion of liabilities to customers
under securities sold under repurchase agreements repayable within one year will be extended.
The Group’s business model allows for the management of its liquidity risk using both expected
and contractual cash flows. The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows
by accessing additional funding sources such as the existing facility with its parent company,
asset-backed financing from commercial banks and securities brokers.

(i)  Assets held for managing liquidity risk

c.  Liquidity risk
3      Financial risk management (continued)

The Group holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality, highly-liquid securities to
support payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The
Group’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:

(a) Cash deposits at Bank
(b) Government bonds
(c) Secondary sources of liquidity in the form of liquid instruments in the Group’s investment 
     portfolios.

(i)  Loan commitments 

(ii) Capital commitments

As at 30 September 2023 the Group has no financial instruments that commit it to taking up
new receivables or other debt securities (2022: nil).

At 30 September 2023, the Group had capital commitments towards Information
Communication Technology (ICT) projects to the value of TT$4.9M (2022: TT$3.2M).



  Carrying value  Fair value

     Sept 2023
     $000  

      Sept 2022
      $000  

      Sept 2023
      $000  

  Sept 2022
  $000  

  Financial assets

  Cash and due from Banks  368,689  452,616  368,689  452,616 

  Financial assets at amortised cost 3,753,853 3,734,961 3,806,071 3,781,411

  Other assets  149,035   26,512  149,035   26,512 

  Financial liabilities

  Borrowings and bank overdraft   1,292,685 1,292,720   1,443,426   1,489,393 

  Funds under management   6,095   6,221   6,095   6,283 

  Securities sold under repurchase 
  agreement

  3,199,721   3,280,111   3,705,886   3,515,955 

  Loan from parent company   272,090   257,017   251,078   257,017 

  Creditors and accrued expenses   182,780   130,113   182,780   130,113 

d.     Fiduciary activities

e.     Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
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The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are determined as prescribed in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 9 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The fair value of the borrowings and
securities sold under repurchase agreements are based on the fair value of the financial
assets of the underlying securities less the accrued interest. 

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values. Financial instruments where carrying value is
approximately equal to fair value include cash and due from banks.

3        Financial risk management (continued)

The Group provides custody, mutual funds and investment management services to third
parties which involve the Group making allocation and purchase and sale decisions in relation
to a wide range of financial instruments. Those assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are
not included in these consolidated financial statements. 

 

(i)     Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial
assets and liabilities not presented on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position at their fair value.



e.     Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

81   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

(i)    Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

(ii)    Financial instruments measured at fair value using a valuation technique 

Amortised cost investments

The Non-Eurobond investment securities prices are determined by the Group Market Risk
(GMR) Department using the spot/zero curves produced and the internal Bond Pricing
Model. The spot rates for each curve generated by the internal Bootstrapping model and
Bloomberg is used to determine the future cash flows for the securities. For other bonds
acredit spread is determined based the cash flows term to maturity and the determination
of a discount factor. The fair value of the amortised cost portfolio is computed for
disclosure purposes only.

Borrowings, Funds under Management and Securities sold under Repurchase Agreements

The above include maturities ranging from 1 day to 5 years and are subject to interest reset
on a regular basis. The fair value of those amounts with maturities of less than one year is
approximately equal to their carrying value. For long term fixed rate liabilities, the fair
value of these amounts is estimated using fair value of the underlying securities and
accrued finance cost to date. 

Loan from parent company

The fair value of these facilities is calculated using discounted cash flow analysis of
comparable GORTT borrowing rates for the term indicated, plus a spread consistent with
the parent company credit rating . These facilities accrue interest rates of 3 months LIBOR
plus 275 basis points and 4%.  If interest was accrued using the SOFR plus 275 basis points
interest expense would decrease by TT$7.5M (2022: TT$4.32M). The fair value of those
amounts with maturities of less than one year is approximately equal to their carrying
value.

The total amount of the change in fair value estimated using a valuation technique that
was recognised in profit or loss during the period September 2023: $nil (2022: nil).

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to these
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market
data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect The Group’s market
assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:-

Level 1-Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
This level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
Level 2-Measurements involving inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices). This level includes debt instruments.
Level 3-Measurements involving significant inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). This level includes
equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.



(ii)    Financial instruments measured at fair value using a valuation technique (continued)
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e.     Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

_______________________________________

_______________________________________

_______________________________________

_______________________________________

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group
considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

                                                                          Level 1          Level 2           Level 3           Total
                                                                           $'000            $'000              $'000             $'000
As at 30 September 2023

Fair value securities

- Investment securities - debt                        --           1,694,909               --          1,694,909
- Investment securities - equity               303,212                --                 8,489           311,701

Total investments                                         303,212       1,694,909             8,489       2,006,610

As at 30 September 2022

Fair value securities

- Investment securities - debt                       --             1,701,712              --             1,701,712
- Investment securities - equity               430,676                --               10,148        440,824

Total investments                                         430,676        1,701,712            10,148       2,142,536



  Reconciliation of Level 3 items  

        Equity      Total   

       $    $  

  Balance as at 1 October 2022   10,148    10,148  

  Fair value movement    (1,659)    (1,659)  

  Additions    --    --  

  Exchange differences    --    --  

  Disposals    --    --  

  Accrued interest    --    --  

  Amortisation    --    --  

  Balance as at 30 September 2023   8,489    8,489  

  Reconciliation of Level 3 items  

   Equity      Total   

  $    $  

  Balance as at 1 October 2021    9,517    9,517  

  Fair value movement    631    631  

  Additions    --    --  

  Exchange differences    --    --  

  Disposals    --    --  

  Accrued interest    --    --  

  Amortisation    --    --  

  Balance as at 30 September 2022    10,148    10,148  

(ii)     Financial instruments measured at fair value using a valuation technique (continued)
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e.     Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3      Financial risk management (continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.  Reconciliation of
Level 3 items are as follows:- 



f.      Capital management
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3      Financial risk management (continued)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on
the face of the statement of financial position, are:

To comply with the Securities Exchange Commission Repo guidelines
To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets
where the Group operates;
To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;
To ensure that the Group can remain solvent during periods of adverse earnings or
economic decline; and
To ensure that the Group is adequately capitalised to cushion depositors and other
creditors against losses.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Group’s
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Commission), for supervisory purposes. The
required information is filed with the Commission on a regular basis as required. 

The Commission requires each securities company to hold the minimum paid up share capital
of five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. In addition to the minimum level of regulatory
capital, the Group’s management also monitors capital adequacy using relevant national and
international benchmarks. Capital adequacy calculations are reported monthly to the Group’s
Risk and Portfolio Strategy Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the Board of
Directors. 

The Group complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which it is
subject for the periods ended 30 September 2023 and 30 September 2022.

4      Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances:

a.   Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
b. 

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at
amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income is an area that requires the
use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and
credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of debt instruments defaulting). Explanation of the inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.a.vii.
The main sensitivity to the ECL is in the macroeconomic overlay scenarios which are explained
in note 3.a.viii.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements
for measuring ECL, such as:

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type
of product/market and the associated ECL; and
Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.



  2023
  $000 

  2022
  $000  

  Cash and due from Banks    365,472   449,422 
  Short-term investments    3,217   3,194 

       368,689   452,616 
  Short-term investments:          
  - Maturity within 3  months   744   735 
  - Maturity over 3 months    2,473   2,459 

       3,217   3,194 

  Cash and due from Banks    365,472   449,422
  Short-term investments – maturity within 3 months    744   735

      366,216   450,157

a.    Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (continued)

b.   Fair valuation of properties
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The average effective interest rate on cash and due from bank was 0.26% (2022: 0.59%).

Term deposits are presented as cash equivalent if they have a maturity of twelve months or less
from the date of acquisition and repayable within 24 hours’ notice with no loss of interest. 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flow:

4     Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

5      Cash and due from Banks

The Loss Given Default rate on corporate senior unsecured bonds is estimated to be 60% (2022:
60%) based on the International Swaps and Derivatives Association standard Credit Default
Swap contract specification for North American corporate issuers. The Loss Given Default rate
on sovereign senior unsecured bonds is estimated to be 50% (2022: 47%) based on the average
Loss Given Default rate on Sovereign bonds during the period 1983 to 2022 as reported by
Moody’s Investors Service.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar lease and other
contracts. In the absence of such information, the Group determines the amount within a range
of reasonable fair value estimates. In making the judgement, the Group considers information
from a variety of sources including:

Current prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or location
(or subject to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;
Recent prices of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and
Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (where possible) from external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount.
The First Citizens Group engages external, independent and qualified valuators to
determine the fair value of the Group’s land and buildings at least every three years. The
last valuations were performed as at September 2021. 



  2023   2022
  $’000   $’000

  Debt securities   
  Unlisted    1,694,909   1,701,712

  1,694,909   1,701,712
  Less provision for impairment    (1,820)   (4,391)

  1,693,089   1,697,321
  Equity securities     
  Listed    302,653   430,040
  Unlisted    8,489   10,148

  311,142   440,188

       2,004,231   2,137,509

  2023   2022
  $’000   $’000

  At start of year    2,137,509   2,807,717
  Exchange difference Bonds   10   --
  Exchange difference Equity   (7,837)   (3,169)
  Additions Bonds   418,350   726,889
  Disposals     (473,408)   (1,045,738)
  Reclassification to Amortised Cost   --   (6,782)
  Amortisation of premiums   2,933   (13,704)
  Gains/(losses) from changes in fair value of Bonds   45,312   (326,175)
  Losses from changes in fair value of Equity   (121,209)   (5,667)
  Net movement in provision for impairment   2,571   4,138

  At end of year    2,004,231   2,137,509

6      Financial assets - fair value through other comprehensive income
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The movement in financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income may
be summarized as follows:

Included in these are financial assets amounting to $1.7B (2022: $1.81B) that have been pledged
to third parties under sale and repurchase agreements. 



       2023    2022  
  Debt securities      $’000    $’000  
  Unlisted    3,775,188   3,772,452
      3,775,188   3,772,452
  Less provision for impairment   (21,335)   (37,491)

       3,753,853   3,734,961

  2023    2022  

  $’000    $’000  

  At beginning of year    3,734,961   3,939,450 

  Exchange differences     (10)   -- 

  Additions      187,722   52,682 

  Redemptions/ Maturities/ Disposals    (213,078)   (269,764) 

  Movement on GOB POCI bonds    15,333   17,411 

  Reclassification from FVOCI    --   6,782 

  Net amortisation of discounts    13,390   (3,515) 

  Amortisation of unrealised gains on reclassified assets    (621)   (586) 

  Movement of provision for impairment    16,156   (7,499) 

  At end of year    3,753,853   3,734,961 

         2023          2022  

          $’000           $’000  

  Listed equity    560   636 

  560   636 

  The movement for the year may be summarised as follows:

  At start of year    636   607 

  Additions    479,617   951,129 

  Disposals    (483,024)   (963,294) 

  (Loss)/gain from changes in fair value   3,331   2,193 

       560   636 

7      Financial assets - amortised cost
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Included in the unlisted amortised cost portfolio are Government of Barbados Series D bonds
which have been classified as POCI with a face value of BB$131,997,672 (2022: BB$131,997,672).

The movement in financial assets held at amortised cost for the year may be summarised as
follows:

8      Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss

Included in these are financial assets amounting to $2.9B (2022: $2.9B) that have been pledged
to third parties under sale and repurchase agreements.



  Movements are as follows:         2023        2022  
           $’000         $’000  

  At beginning of the year    8,085   8,790

  Additions    456   978

  Amortisation    (2,462)   (1,683)

  At end of year    6,079   8,085

  Cost    11,209   10,753 

  Accumulated amortisation   (5,130)   (2,668) 

  Net book amount    6,079   8,085 

9      Intangible assets
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This comprises an investment in computer software brought into use as at February 2021 and
November 2022.



   
  

  Land &
building  

  Leasehold
improvements 

  Office
equipment &

furniture  

  Motor
vehicles

  Computer
equipment

  Work in
progress

  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Year ended 30 September 2023  

  Opening net book amount    41,058   --   1,578   194   246   --   43,076

  Additions    --   --   124   --   92   3,598   3,814

  Disposals    --   --   (535)   --   (175)   --   (710)

  Depreciation charge   (1,284)   --   (394)   (54)   (160)   --   (1,892)

  Depreciation charge on 
  disposal

  --   --   535   --   174   --   709

  Closing net book amount    39,774   --   1,308   140   177   3,598   44,997

  At 30 September 2023  

  Cost/revaluation    53,226   6,224   13,477   447   2,647   3,598     79,619

 Accumulated depreciation  (13,452)   (6,224)   (12,169)   (307)    (2,470)   --  (34,622)

  Net book amount    39,774   --   1,308   140   177   3,598   44,997

10     Property and equipment
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  Land
  & building

  Leasehold
  improvements

  Office
  equipment &

furniture

  Motor
  vehicles

  Computer
  equipment

  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 September 2022  

Opening net book amount    42,341   111   793   1,421   317   44,983
Additions    --   --   1,010   213   97   1,320
Disposals    --   --   (1,012)   (2,973)   (121)   (4,106)
Depreciation charge    (1,283)   (110)   (224)   (78)   (168)   (1,863)
Depreciation charge on disposal    --   --   1,011   1,610   121   2,742

Closing net book amount    41,058   --   1,578   194   246   43,076

At 30 September 2022  

Cost/revaluation    53,226   6,224   13,888   447   2,729   76,514
Accumulated depreciation    (12,168)   (6,224)   (12,310)   (253)   (2,483)   (33,438) 

Net book amount    41,058   --   1,578   194   246   43,076 

At 30 September 2021  

Cost/revaluation   53,226   6,224   13,890   3,206   2,753   79,299 
Accumulated depreciation   (10,885)   (6,113)   (13,097)   (1,785)   (2,436)   (34,316) 

Net book amount    42,341   111   793   1,421   317   44,983 

10    Property and equipment (continued)
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  2023
  $’000 

  2022
  $’000 

  Opening net book amount    4,144   1,269 

  Additions – Building     3,030   3.415 

  Transfer in – Motor Vehicle Leases    --   1,364 

  Disposals    (190)   (157) 

  Depreciation    (1,714)   (1,747) 

  Closing net book amount    5,270   4,144 

    2023      2022  
  Level 3      $’000      $’000  
  Leasehold land    8,448   8,448
  Building on lease land    25,571   25,571

  Freehold land and building    19,207   19,207

       53,226   53,226

  Interest expenses (included in finance cost)   341   371

  341   371 

a.     Recognised right of use asset
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b.     Recognised fair value measurements

10    Property and equipment (continued)

(i)     Fair value hierarchy

The statement of income reflects the following amount relating to leases:-

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair values hierarchy
levels as at the end of the reporting period.

The basis of valuation is the market value, which is defined as the estimated amount for
which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing and where the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

Changes in fair value are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The Group’s policy is to obtain independent valuations for its freehold land and
buildings at least every three years.

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of
the non-financial assets that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. 

(ii)    Valuation techniques used to determine level 2 and level 3 fair values



    2023
    $000

    2022
    $000

  Cost    44,638   44,638
  Accumulated depreciation    (13,452)   (12,168)

  Net  book amount   31,186   32,470

2023
$000

2022
$000

  Medium term borrowings    485,238   485,273
  Short term borrowings    807,447   807,447

       1,292,685   1,292,720

  Prepayments    14,375   5,969
  Fees and coupons receivable    13,738   14,411
  Due from related party    33   --
  Amounts due from brokers    5,716   241
  Other receivables    129,548   11,860

       163,410   32,481

b.     Recognised fair value measurements (continued)
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11    Other assets

Medium term borrowings represent unsecured borrowings: US$42.15M, and TT$200M for a
period of two to three years (2022: US$42.15M, and TT$200M). Interest on these debt instruments
accrue at rates of 2.5% and 3.5% on the USD and on the TTD at 3.4% (2022: 2.5% and 3.5% on the
USD and 3.3% TTD). The average rate as at the end of 2023 was 3.13% (2022: 3.10%).

Short term borrowings represent one facility of US$120M (2022: US$120M) which is secured by
the Group’s investment securities and will mature in April 2024. Average interest rate 2.9% (2022:
2.9%). The market value of the investment security held as collateral for these facilities amounted
to TT$886M (2022: TT$951M) (Note 3 e (i)).

10    Property and equipment (continued)

Other receivables include amounts due from a matured bond of TT$120M which was received in
October 2023.

12     Borrowings

(ii)    Valuation techniques used to determine level 2 and level 3 fair values (continued)

Level 3 fair values of land and retail units have been derived using the sales comparison
approach. Commercial rental income of comparable land and buildings in close
proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most
significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot.

If freehold premises were stated on the historical cost basis, the amount would be as
follows:



2023
$000

2023
$000

  Invested principal    3,161,837   3,242,333
  Accrued interest    37,884   37,778

       3,199,721   3,280,111

  Public institutions    499,757   596,253
  Private institutions    1,780,327   1,686,100
  Consumer    919,637   997,758

        3,199,721   3,280,111

  Current portion    2,755,483   2,789,521
  Non-current portion    444,238   490,590

       3,199,721   3,280,111

  Accrued expenses    9,702   11,734
  Due to brokers    7,360   480
  Other liabilities    133,246   89,189
  Related parties    32,472   28,710

       182,780   130,113

 2023
 $000

  2022
  $000

  Loan from parent company (note 3 e.i.)   272,090   257,107 

13    Securities sold under repurchase agreements
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These financial instruments accrue interest at rates between 0.4% and 5% (2022: 0.10% and 4%).

Balances due to related parties include an amount of $26.6M (2022: $26.6M) owed to the Bank.
This relates to an amount owing to GORTT by the Bank in respect of payments made on claims
which were subsequently recovered pursuant to the Liquidity Support Agreement discussed in
Note 3.a.ix. 

Other liabilities balance as at 30 September 2023 includes amounts due for Equity and Bond
settlements $106M which was settled in October 2023 (2022: $66.6M).

This comprises two loan facilities:

1) Unsecured Medium Term US facility approved for US$37.7M, at a rate of 4%. Drawn down
balance as at September 2023: US$36.9M (2022: US$37.7M at 4%), repayable March 2025.

2) Line of credit approved for US$25M. Drawn down balance as at September 2023: US$3M, at a
rate of 7.9% due within 3 months. (2022: Nil). 

Securities sold under repurchase agreements are analysed by sector as follows:

14    Creditors and accrued expenses

15    Loan from parent company



  Opening lease liability    4,287   1,211

  Additions    2,984   4,858

  Disposals    (181)   (143)

  Interest on Lease Liability    341   371

  Repayment of lease principal     (2,053)   (2,010)

  Lease liability     5,378   4,287

  Current lease liability     1,522   590

  Non-current lease liability     3,856   3,697

       5,378   4,287

         2023
         $000  

         2022
         $000  

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

  At beginning of year     10,054   113,227

Other reserve – (Note 19)   (25,545)   (98,992)

Statement of income charge (Note 29)   2,472   (4,181)

       (13,019)   10,054

16       Lease liabilities
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17     Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using tax
rates of 30% for Trinidad and Tobago and 5.5% for Barbados (2022: 30% and 5.5%).



   
  

  Opening
balance

Oct 2022
       

  Statement of Other
Comprehensive
Income - Fair 

Value Reserves 

     (Credit)/Charge
        to statement  

       of income

        Closing    
       balance 

       Sept 2023 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
  Financial assets at fair value through  
  other comprehensive income

  (635)   (31,939)   361   (32,213) 

  Accelerated tax depreciation   (57)   --   4   (53) 
  Unrealised exchange losses   (10)   --   --   (10) 

  Deferred tax asset   (702)   (31,939)   365   (32,276) 

  Financial assets at fair value through  
  other comprehensive income  

   (5,597)   6,572   89   1,064 

  Amortisation of premiums and  
  discounts on financial assets

  1,156   (178)   --   978 

  Unrealised exchange gains    6,203   --    (16)   6,187 
  Zero coupon instruments    6,628   --   1,301   7,929 
  Accelerated tax depreciation   2,356   --   732   3,088 
  Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit & loss

  10   --   1   11 

  Deferred tax liability   10,756   6,394   2,107   19,257 

  Net deferred tax liability/ (asset)   10,054   (25,545)   2,472   (13,019) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, the deferred tax charge/credit in the statement of income and
fair value reserve – financial assets are attributable to the following items:
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17     Deferred tax (continued)



   
  

  Opening
balance
Oct 2021

  Statement of
Other

Comprehensive
  Income -Fair

Value Reserves   

  (Credit)/
Charge to

statement of
income 

  Closing
balance

Sept 2022 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
  Financial assets at fair value through other 
  comprehensive income  

  (361)   (274)   --   (635) 

  Corporate tax losses    (559)   --   559   -- 
  Accelerated tax depreciation    (66)   --   9   (57) 
  Unrealised exchange losses    (12)  --   2   (10) 

  Deferred tax asset    (998)   (274)   570   (702) 

  Financial assets at fair value through 
  other comprehensive income  

  92,777   (98,374)   --   (5,597) 

  Amortisation of premiums and 
  discounts on financial assets  

  1,500   (344)   --   1,156 

  Unrealised exchange gains    6,426   --   (223)   6,203 
  Zero coupon instruments    11,590   --   (4,962)   6,628 
  Accelerated tax depreciation    1,916   --   440   2,356 
  Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss  

  16   --   (6)   10 

  Deferred tax liability    114,225   (98,718)   (4,751)   10,756 

  Net deferred tax liability     113,227   (98,992)   (4,181)   10,054 

           2023
           $000  

          2022
            $000   

  Within 12 months   --   --

  After 12 months    32,276   702

       32,276   702

  Within 12 months    --   2,356

  After 12 months    19,257   8,400

  At end of year    19,257   10,756

17       Deferred tax (continued)
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Deferred tax assets are expected to be recovered as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities are expected to be realised as follows:



     
         2023

           $000  
          2022
          $000

  Financial assets     (70,825)   (12,039)
  Land and building    588   588

       (70,237)   (11,451)

  DEBT  
  Opening balance    (128,065)   102,574 
  Net gains/(losses) from changes in fair value    44,715   (327,323) 
  Deferred tax (charge)/credit    (13,094)   96,681 
  Exchange differences    --   3 

  Debt at end of year    (96,444)   (128,065) 

  EQUITY  
  Opening balance    116,026   121,691
  Net losses from changes in fair value    (129,046)   (7,977)
  Deferred tax credit    38,639   2,312

  Equity at end of year    25,619   116,026

  Total financial assets at end of year    (70,825)   (12,039)

18    Share capital

19    Other reserve
  

  At beginning of year   588   588

  At end of year   588   588

97   |   2023 ANNUAL REPORT

F i rs t  C i t i zens  Investment  Serv ices  L imited  And I ts  Subs id iar ies

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

30 September 2023
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

(continued)

  Land and building

Financial assets 

The total authorised number of shares are issued and fully paid. These shares are not traded in an
open market and during the year there were no movements in each type and/or class of share.

                                                                                                                        2023                           2022
                                                                                                                        $’000                        $’000
Authorised
     An unlimited number of shares at par value

Issued and fully paid 
     637,697,000 ordinary shares of no par value                              637,697                      637,697

        

i    Fair value reserve – Financial assets

ii   Fair value reserve – Land and buildings 

For debt financial assets, the fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of the fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets, net of deferred tax,
until the assets are derecognised or impaired. For equity financial assets, any movement in fair
value is recognised through other comprehensive income and are not recycled to the
consolidated statement of income.

 
The fair value reserve comprises of the net fair value of the Group’s land and building, which
are valued by an independent valuator every three years.



           2023
           $000  

            2022
             $000 

  Amortised cost    190,752   193,415
  Fair value through other comprehensive income    70,254   83,448
  Other    620   467

      261,626   277,330

  Securities sold under repurchase agreements   61,412   62,224
  Borrowings    38,245   49,453
  Loan from parent company    10,844   10,487
  Other    52   710

       110,553   122,874

  Portfolio management    66,505   76,428
  Wealth management    23,803   23,282
  Capital markets - placement fees    7,612   8,462
  Brokerage & advisory - equity    17,441   1,514

       115,361   109,686

  Net realised gains on disposal of fair value through profit or loss assets     3,372   2,382
  Net realised losses on disposal of bonds   (21,739)   (7,249)

       (18,367)   (4,867)

  Dividend income    225   12,368
  Other income    424   4,233
  Rental income    157   283

  806   16,884

20    Interest income
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22    Fees and commissions

21    Interest expense

All fees and commissions are recognised over time, except for Capital Markets placement fees, which are
recognised at a point in time. Included in Brokerage & Advisory - equity is a put through transaction of
$15.6M for brokerage services provided within the financial year. 

24    Other income

23    Loss realised on financial assets



           2023
           $’000  

        2022
        $’000  

  Impairment write back/(charge) on financial assets    15,690   (10,735)
  Net gains on sales/maturities of financial assets    3,038   7,152
  Net Impairment    18,728   (3,583)
  (Loss)/gain on assets purchased originated credit impaired     (2,731)   450

  15,997   (3,133)

  Other impairment    (54)   (26)

  (54)   (26)

         2023
          $000  

        2022
           $000  

  Staff costs (Note 27.a)    37,578   35,843
  Depreciation    3,606   3,610
  Amortisation    2,462   1,683

  43,646   41,136

  Wages and salaries    25,163   23,910
  Pension    3,241   3,165
  National insurance    1,115   1,132
  Other    8,059   7,636

       37,578   35,843

  Information technology expenses    9,848   10,193

  Office expenses    5,795   6,297

  Consultancy & other professional services    7,562   7,353

  Management charges    17,955   18,137

  Other expenses    4,346   3,384

  45,506   45,364

25    Impairment gain/(loss) on financial assets
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27    Administrative expenses

26    Impairment loss on non-financial assets

a.  Staff costs

28    Other operating expenses



       2023
       $’000  

       2022
       $’000  

  Corporation tax    30,292   41,066
  Prior year (over) provision    (3,000)   (2,827)
  Deferred tax (Note 17)    2,472   (4,181)

  29,764   34,058

  Profit before tax    175,164   185,835 
  Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to profits in respective countries     61,255   63,553 
  Income exempt from tax    (40,609)   (49,516) 
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    13,709   24,068 
  (Over)  provision prior year   (3,000)   (2,827) 
  Net  effect of other charges and allowances   (1,591)   (1,220) 

  29,764   34,058 

  Off-consolidated statement of financial position investments    17,255,445   16,896,911 

29     Taxation
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The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic rate of tax
as follows:

31    Related party transactions

30    Assets under management

Assets under management, which are not beneficially owned by the Group, but which are
managed by the Group on behalf of investors are listed below at carrying amount.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
These include purchase of investment securities and securities sold under repurchase agreements.

a. Directors and key management personnel

   Statement of financial position

   Securities sold under repurchase agreements                                                             (2,352)                         (8,852)

                                                                                                                                                     (2,352)                         (8,852)

   Statement of income

   Interest expense                                                                                                                       (122)                             (192)
   Salaries and other short-term employee benefits                                                       (7,194)                         (6,528)

                                                                                                                                                      (7,316)                         (6,720)



31    Related party transactions (continued)
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b.    Related companies

The following related party transactions are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of income for September 2023:
                                                                                                                               Related
                                                                                                  Parent             companies                   GORTT
                                                                                                  $’000                    $’000                         $’000
Statement of income
Interest income                                                                        266                            4                          62,327
Interest expense                                                                (10,844)                   (4,763)                         --
                                                                                                (10,578)                   (4,759)                        62,327

Statement of financial position
Assets
    Cash and cash equivalents                                        190,642                     16,902                        --   
    Financial assets                                                                     --                           --                       1,553,931
    Other Assets                                                                           --                            33                         --

Liabilities
     Securities sold under repurchase agreements            --                    (274,031)                      --
     Creditors and accrued expenses                              (31,625)                         (848)                      --
     Leases                                                                                 (1,147)                          --                         --
     Loan from parent company                                    (272,090)                         --                         --
                                                                                             (186,011)                  (257,977)                   1,553,931

The following related party transactions are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of income for September 2022:

                                                                                                                               Related
                                                                                                   Parent            companies                GORTT
                                                                                                    $’000                 $’000                      $’000
Statement of income
Interest income                                                                          268                           4                       63,825
Interest expense                                                                   (10,488)                (2,489)                          --
                                                                                                  (10,220)                (2,485)                      63,825

Statement of financial position
Assets
     Cash and cash equivalents                                           289,296                 19,007                          --
     Financial assets                                                                       194                     --                      1,477,254

Liabilities
     Securities sold under repurchase agreements                --               (375,377)                         --
     Creditors and accrued expenses                                (27,934)                     (836)                         --
     Leases                                                                                    (1,011)                        --                           --
     Loan from parent company                                       (257,107)                        --                          --

                                                                                                     3,438              (357,206)                 1,477,254
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32    Contingent liabilities

At the consolidated statement of financial position date, there were no contingent liabilities (2022: nil).

33    Subsequent events

There were no events after the consolidated statement of financial position date which were material
to the financial statements and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statements or
disclosures when the financial statements were authorised for issue.


